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| am pleased to present the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

During the financial year (“FY”) of 2023, the first post-COVID
year, the Group faced strong challenges of continuous
geopolitical tensions, rising interest rates that resulted in
inflationary pressures and lower sales demand worldwide,
and the financial shocks in the real estate industry in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). To alleviate the
impact of these uncertainties, the Group opted to exercise
financial prudence to lower safety stock to an optimal level,
and to optimize fixed costs by investing in new machineries
prudently for confirmed new business, and adopting efficient
cost cutting measures to cope with significant sudden
drop in sales demand worldwide in the air purifier product
category as consumers no longer stayed home and spent
money on health related consumer products.

Despite all these economic, geopolitical and pandemic
uncertainties, the Group managed to tackle each challenge
and launch more new innovative products during FY2023
in product categories that helped consumers have a great
time when they had gatherings at home or when they went
out. The Group also focused on products that would give
consumers neat appearance as they no longer wear masks
when going out to work or having fun outside. The Group
adopted alternative marketing strategies with our customers
that emphasized product diversification, such as launching
of new products in niche markets that would go viral in the
social media. For example, the Group successfully helped
one of its customers launch a series of innovative beverage
products, including a premium product line which would
enhance customer experience in bars and pubs and a
more affordable home product line for use at home and
gatherings.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHRE

As a result of the successful launch of new products in niche
markets, for FY2023, the Group’s consolidated turnover
increased to HK$1,362,732,000, representing an increase of
approximately 28.19% as compared with the consolidated
turnover of same period in the previous year. Net profit of
the Group was HK$67,871,000, representing an increase
of approximately 122.50%, as compared with the net
profit of HK$30,504,000 for the same period in FY2022;
and representing basic earnings per share of 13.54 Hong
Kong cents (net profit in FY2022 was HK$30,504,000,
with basic earnings per share of 6.09 Hong Kong cents).
The significant increase in net profit was attributable to the
fact that the Group’s business has recovered in the post
COVID-19 era and controlled expenses together with a
series of favourable macroeconomic factors: strong United
States Dollars (“USD”), appreciating British pounds and
depreciating Renminbi (“RMB”), rising interest rates that
increased the Group’s interest income. Despite resumption
of normal life globally outside the PRC and Hong Kong that
led to lower demand for air purification products, the Group
had successfully launched new consumer products that
consumers would purchase in the post COVID-19 era.

Cash generated from operations was HK$101,559,000
in FY2023. Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of
FY2023 was HK$367,415,000 (HK$35,105,000 of which
were dividends paid out during FY2023) as compared with
HK$334,379,000 at the beginning of FY2023. The positive
operating cash flow and substantial cash balances enable
the Group to continue paying dividends to the shareholders.
At the same time, the Group continues to invest excess cash
in research and development (‘R&D”), new technology and
automation equipment. Consequently, the Group continues
to qualify as a High and New Technology Enterprise (‘HNTE”)
in the PRC.
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In FY2023, the Group invested HK$40,505,000 (compared
with HK$20,102,000 in FY2022) to purchase new injection
moulding machines, procure more high precision laboratory
testing equipment to upgrade our R&D and operational
capabilities, and hire consultants to work on finance digital
transformation to enhance faster data processing and
analysis, and to realize paperless finance operation. Part
of the abovementioned capital expenditure was related to
new R&D projects to fulfill the High Technology Venture
minimum annual investment requirement; and we expect
the investment in these R&D projects will improve our
operational efficiency, enabling the Group’s management
to make better predictions and business decisions, and
hopefully can generate more sales revenue in 2023 from
launch of new products. Qualifying for the High Technology
Venture status would enable the Group to continue to enjoy
lower profit tax rate and to receive tax incentives from the
PRC Government and increase our competitiveness among
our peers.

To achieve AloT (Artificial Intelligence and Internet of Things)
compatibility, the Group continued to invest in the information
systems and automated production processes to convert
the operations to be 5G ready and can utilize big data and
mobile surveillance systems to improve quality systems.
With more digital transformation tools available, the Group’s
management can update strategies and react to changes
quickly in highly competitive global markets. On 4 May 2023,
the Group successfully obtained 1ISO27001 certification,
certifying that the Group’s information technology (“IT”)
system has adopted satisfactory cybersecurity measures
to protect data privacy. Furthermore, the Group’s enterprise
resource planning (‘ERP”) and IT system can achieve safe
and secure data management, and safeguard important
digital and intangible assets to give our stakeholders
confidence in our ability to protect our data integrity.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHRE

On 8 September 2023, the Group experienced serious
flooding in our Nansha factory as a result of the severe
black rainstorm due to extreme climate change. Despite the
Group adopted crisis risk management protocols, certain
raw materials and machineries were still damaged resulting
in loss of several millions Hong Kong dollars. The Group
will review our current risk management protocols under
severe climate change and will adopt better precautionary
measures and revise our crisis management procedures
to better manage similar situation in the future so we can
minimize property loss and ensure all staff will be safe in
case of a crisis.

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | would
like to extend the Board’s appreciation to all our staff for their

hard work and dedication throughout the year ended 31
December 2023.

WONG, Man Hin Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL POSITION

The liquidity position of the Group was satisfactory. The
current ratio of the Group was 3.51 as of 31 December
2023, compared with 3.42 as of 31 December 2022. The
quick ratio of the Group was 2.84 as of 31 December 2023
(81 December 2022: 2.46). The gearing ratio of the Group
was 0.32 as of 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
0.32), which was computed by the trade and other payables
over total equity.

During FY2023, the Group’s trade receivables turnover
stood at 60 days, compared with 55 days in FY2022. The
inventory turnover in FY2023 was 45 days, compared with
78 days in FY2022.

Bank balances and cash were HK$367,415,000 as of 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$334,379,000), representing an
increase of HK$33,036,000 as compared to the figures in
the same period in FY2022, which was mainly due to lower
inventory level and better cash flow management with better
financial analytic tools available.

There were no bank borrowings as of 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

The Group had no contingent liabilities as of 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the capital structure of the Company has
not been changed with details shown in note 23(a) to the
financial statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company has proposed a final dividend
of 4 Hong Kong cents per ordinary share (the “Final
Dividend”) (2022: 4 Hong Kong cents per ordinary share)
and a special dividend of 6 Hong Kong cents per ordinary
share (the “Special Dividend”) (2022: Nil) for the year ended
31 December 2023. The Final Dividend and the Special
Dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, will be paid on Friday, 7 June 2024
to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Tuesday, 28 May 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEE;—J-HHH& *ﬁ'

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed for
the following periods:

(1)

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on Monday, 20 May 2024
(the “2024 AGM"), the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 14 May 2024 to
Monday, 20 May 2024, both days inclusive. In order to
be qualified for attending and voting at the 2024 AGM,
all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, should be lodged for registration
with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
13 May 2024.

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are
entitled to the Final Dividend and the Special Dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 24 May 2024 to Tuesday, 28 May 2024,
both days inclusive. In order to be qualified for the
Final Dividend and the Special Dividend, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, should be lodged for registration with the
Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 23 May 2024.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

The Group had no charges on assets as of 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the Group’s transactions were conducted in the
USD, British pound, Hong Kong dollars and RMB. The
Group does not foresee any substantial exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations and thus use of financial instruments
for exchange rate hedging purpose is not considered.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTVENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have any significant investments, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have other plans for material investments or capital assets
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group’s management anticipates strong challenges in
2024 due to continuous geopolitical tensions and economic
uncertainties. The Group’s management expects external
events can play a much larger role in determining an
organization’s destiny, and the Group’s management needs
to react quickly to formulate a new and effective strategy
to counter the disruptive market forces emerging from the
business ecosystem in which the Group operates. The
Group’s investment in R&D enables us to maintain the HNTE
status for the seventh consecutive year, and allows the
Group to use new knowledge, patents and innovations to
grow our business despite a punctuated equilibrium in the
business ecosystem. The Group’s management will remain
resilient to tackle any immediate market downturns and form
stronger partnership with our strategic customers to adapt
to the new business ecosystem.

In 2024, the Group will continue to invest and promote
computerization of manufacturing. The Group will complete
our ERP system integration with our new bar code system
to accelerate real time inventory data, to enable detailed
financial analytics to help the Group’s management team
make wise decisions on important strategic tasks quickly
and to unlock the Group’s full operational potential. By
analyzing the profit margins of different product lines,
the cash and inventory real time positions, and the latest
accounts receivables and payables status, the Group’s
management can address the entire value chain to open
up new business opportunities, make more efficient use of
working capital and better manage discretionary spending.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFWE DM

As more and more European countries propose “Carbon
Border Adjustment Mechanism (“CBAM”)”, to comply
with carbon emission and other environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) targets, the Group’s management is
vigilant about this potential new requirement and gets ready
to obtain the CBAM certificates based on greenhouse gases
emissions embedded in the products to be imported in the
European Union. The need for supply chain decarbonization
will inevitably increase total product costs and our R&D
team will take this new requirement into consideration when
developing new innovative products. Furthermore, the
new measures proposed by the International Sustainability
Standards Board will also enforce more climate change
risk management and new ESG requirements. The Board
and the Group’s management will keep up-to-date on all
the new ESG and decarbonization requirements so that we
can be the market forerunner to introduce environmentally
friendly new innovative products that suit this new globally
sustainability trend.

Finally, because of continuous US-China trade tension
and geopolitical uncertainties, the Group’s management
has already found a manufacturing partner in Indonesia
to complete a small-scale pilot production of grooming
products outside the PRC during second half of FY2023.
The Group’s management will decide when to start full
scale production outside the PRC after we have collected
more valuable costs and productivity data from the pilot
production conducted in Indonesia.

During FY2023, the Group’s management outsourced the
logistics function to a third party logistics company to handle
all materials in transit between Hong Kong and China. As
a result, in early 2024, the Group’s management considers
renting out the vacant warehouse space at our Shatin
premise, and is now actively seeking new tenant to generate
additional rental income.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

STAFF

The Group currently employs approximately 22 Hong Kong
staff members and provides them with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme. Our factory in the PRC employs
approximately 500 to 520 staff members, and workers
employed directly or indirectly approximately ranged
from 1,630 to 2,300 during the year ended 31 December
2023. Remuneration is determined by reference to their
quallifications, experiences and performances.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend the Board’s
appreciation to all our staff for their hard work and dedication
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

AREEEREREBEAEHN

Dr. Wong, Man Hin Raymond (“Dr. Raymond Wong”),
aged 57, son of Dr. Wong, Kin Lae Wilson, was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 18 July 2001, re-
designated as an executive Director on 19 April 2002. Dr.
Raymond Wong became a deputy executive Chairman
since 19 April 2007. On 10 December 2021, he was re-
designated as the Chairman. He is also a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Dr. Raymond
Wong is also a director of Raymond Electric (China) Limited
and the chairman of Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical
Manufacture Appliances Development Company Limited, all
of which are subsidiaries of the Company.

Dr. Raymond Wong holds a bachelor’s degree in chemical
engineering, a master degree in economics and a doctorate
degree in business administration. He is a member of
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (CPA),
a Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA),
a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) and holds
a certificate in financial management (CFM). He is an
independent non-executive director of Modern Healthcare
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly Modern Beauty Salon
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 0919), Nan Nan Resources
Enterprise Limited (stock code: 1229), Tak Lee Machinery
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2102) and Guanze Medical
Information Industry (Holding) Co., Ltd (stock code: 2427),
companies whose shares are listed on The Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). He was an independent non-executive Director
of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (stock
code: 8366), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, until 9 March 2021.

Mr. Wong, Ying Man John (“Mr. John Wong”), aged 58,
was appointed as an executive Director on 15 September
1997. He has been appointed as the Vice-Chairman on
10 December 2021. He graduated from the University of
Manchester Institute of Science & Technology in 1987 and
joined the Company in the same year. He worked as an
engineer, project coordinator, engineering manager and
then general manager for operations. He is the General
Manager and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Company. Mr. John Wong is also a director of Mass
Top Corporation, Raymond Electric (China) Limited and
Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical Manufacture Appliances
Development Company Limited, all of which are subsidiaries
of the Company.
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Mr. Mok, Kin Hing, aged 60, was alternate Director to Dr.
Wong, Kin Lae Wilson, ex-Chairman and executive Director
of the Company until 1 July 2008 when he was appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 1 July 2008. Mr. Mok
joined the Company as a production planning coordinator in
1990. He was appointed as a production manager in 1993
and general manager of Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical
Appliances Development Co. Ltd. in 1996. Mr. Mok is also a
director of Raymond Electric (China) Limited, a subsidiary of
the Company.

Dr. Wong, Kin Lae Wilson (“Dr. Wilson Wong”),
aged 88, was an executive Director and the Chairman
from 8 November 1984 to 10 December 2021. He was
redesignated to be a non-executive Director and ceased
to be the Chairman with effect from 10 December 2021.
He obtained a Bachelor of Engineering Degree (Chemical
Engineering) in 1959 from McGill University in Canada.
He was a lecturer at the Hong Kong Technical College. In
1964, Dr. Wilson Wong founded the Company. In 1998, he
was awarded an honorary Doctor of Science from McGill
University in Canada. Dr. Wilson Wong is also a director
of Mass Top Corporation and Raymond (Panyu Nansha)
Electrical Manufacture Appliances Development Company
Limited, both of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Wong, Ying Kit David (“Mr. David Wong”), aged 60,
was appointed a non-executive Director on 26 May 2014.
Prior to his appointment as non-executive Director, he was
an alternate Director of the late Dr. Wong, Kin Hang Philip
(who was a non-executive Director) from 4 July 2008 to 26
May 2014. Mr. David Wong is a Registered Architect and
Authorized Person in Hong Kong. He is also a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Architects. Mr. David Wong is the
founder and executive director of Hong Kong Wine Vault.
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AREEEREREBEAEHN

Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (“Mr. Lo”), aged 50, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1
January 2013. He is also the Chairman of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company, and
a member of the audit committee of the Company. He has
more than 20 years of working experience in investment
banking and advising on corporate finance. He is currently
a managing director of Caitong International Capital Co.,
Limited and independent non-executive director of Kingdom
Holdings Limited (stock code: 0528), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He also has many
years of experience in the field of auditing and accounting.
He is a member of the American Institute of CPA, a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant and
a member of CFA Institute. Mr. Lo obtained his bachelor
of commerce degree from University of British Columbia in
1995.

Ms. Ling, Kit Sum Imma (“Ms. Ling”), aged 69, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1
June 2020. She is also the Chairlady of the audit committee
of the Company, and a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Ms. Ling is a Certified Public Accountant and a retired
assurance partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers. She is
also an independent non-executive director of Melbourne
Enterprises Limited (stock code: 0158), ENM Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0128), EVA Precision Industrial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0838), and Arta TechFin Corporation
Limited (stock code: 0279), and was an independent non-
executive director of Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited
(stock code: 2022) from November 2017 to June 2021 and
Wise Ally International Holdings Limited (stock code: 9918)
from December 2019 to June 2023, all of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Ling is a council
member and the treasurer of The Education University of
Hong Kong. She is also a council member of The Hong
Kong Federation of Youth Groups and an executive
committee member of the Hong Kong Youth Hostels
Association. Ms. Ling was appointed as an independent
manager of the incorporated management committee of Ng
Yuk Secondary School, an aided school, in February 2023.
She was appointed as a member of the Advisory Board of
Hong Kong Institute of Information Technology (“HKIT”) of
Vocational Training Council on 17 October 2023. Prior to the
establishment of HKIIT, Ms. Ling had been a member of its
Preparatory Advisory Committee since July 2023. Ms. Ling
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previously served as a member of the Appeal Board Panel
(Town Planning) from October 2016 to September 2022,
the Hospital Governing Committee of the Hospital Authority
from April 2015 to March 2022, a board member of the
Estate Agents Authority from November 2015 to October
2021 and the Employees Compensation Assistance Fund
Board from July 2006 to June 2012. Ms. Ling is a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada, and Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants. She is an accredited general
mediator.

Dr. Ko, Siu Fung Stephen (“Dr. Ko”), aged 61, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1
October 2021. He is also a member of the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Dr. Ko is a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and The Hong Kong Independent Non-
Executive Director Association. He advises international
technological companies’ executives and boards on scaling
up organisations to the next levels of business performance,
connectivity, innovation, and thus sustainability. His executive
career has spanned several decades and continents at
BASF and Linde Groups in materials, Stryker Corporation in
medical technologies and Aspen Technology Incorporated in
software. Dr. Ko holds a master’s degree in computer-aided
chemical engineering from University of Waterloo in Canada,
a master degree of business administration from Institut
Européen d’Administration des Affaires in France and a
doctorate degree in business administration from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

REEEREREEAEHN

E2022FQAEFLFZEBORMARE) LS - R20154F
ARE2022F3 AT EREIRREREAREZEE®KE - T
R2015F 11 AE2021 F10 AR LT ERBEERES
BB - AR BR2006F 7 AE2012F 6 AEEREEME
BHEHLSEEREERKE - LT ABEBGHIIAE -
REBFTFARSHAAE NEARTEESTMBPE

BREFTEESHMAECEE - BINARGEARE -

Bl 8Et 615 K221 F10A1BEZTABIIE
HITES - FMARRABEZZES FNZESRIRS
ZEEIKE - BRABBEEEEREBBUIFNTES
Hees  FAREBMEARNEENESSRHES
HEM S RENEE S - BRI A mER
ARFEREREAINESNER - F2EBEEBRBET
& EBEM R LE LA E HT K (BASH) M A 12 5% E (Linde
Groups) ~ B /& BT <8 150 #) 52 & 52 (Stryker Corporation)
#4815 ) Aspen Technology Incorporated © S1E+1E N
ANEHEASHMEHERFEH L ETRRBELTEN A
BN IHERERREINEEBEISM  URESER
TRERBSINERIELEA -

FMREBEERAR —T_—FF37

I5



Report of the Directors
ESERS

The Board has the pleasure to submit the annual report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong
and has its registered office and principal place of business
at Rooms 1801-1813, 18th Floor, Grandtech Centre, 8 On
Ping Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES & BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is sale of electrical
home appliances. The principal activities and other
particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, can be found
in the Chairmen’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 3 to 11 of this annual report.
This discussion forms part of the directors’ report.

Review on the Group’s business Pages 3to 6
performance
— Analysis using financial key Page 7

performance indicators

Principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group
Future prospects of the Group

Pages 8 to 10

Pages 9to 10

The Company will publish its standalone Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended
31 December 2023 on the websites of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(http://www.raymondfinance.com) in due course. Further
discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and key relationships with employees,
customers, suppliers and others are also set out in the
Environmental, Social and Government Report.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the state of affairs of the Group as at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 56 to 143.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 144
of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company maintains good relationships with its
employees by taking all practicable measures, including
but not limited to improving, reviewing and updating its
polices on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational
health and safety, to ensure that all the staff are reasonably
remunerated.

The Company is in good relationship with its customers
and is always improving its communication mechanism with
customers to ensure all the complaints or feedback from its
customers can be informed by the Company in time and the
customers receive service of high quality.

The Company maintains long-period good cooperation with
its domestic and overseas suppliers, which are of good
reputation in the industry.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenues from sales of goods and
purchases attributable to the Group’s major customers and
suppliers during the financial year are as follows:
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Percentage of
the Group’s total
rEBEZEHREDE

Revenue from

sales of goods Purchases
HEERBKA g%
The largest customer BRAEP 33.94% N/ATiE A
Five largest customers in aggregate  ~ AARXEFP AT 87.44% N/A 7N R
The largest supplier BAMER N/A 7N B 13.79%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEREE N/ATNiE 22.20%

None of directors, their associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any
interest in these major customers and suppliers during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND

An interim dividend of 3 Hong Kong cents per share was
paid for the six months ended 30 June 2023 (2022: 2 Hong
Kong cents). The Board proposed a final dividend of 4 Hong
Kong cents per ordinary share (2022: 4 Hong Kong cents)
and a special dividend of 6 Hong Kong cents per ordinary
share (2022: Nil) in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023.

ISSUED SHARES

Details of the movements in the issued shares of the
Company during the year are set out in note 23(a) to the
financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in note 30(b) to the financial statements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond (Chairman)
Mr. WONG, John Ying Man (Vice Chairman)
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing

Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson

Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng (resigned on 21 December 2023)
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson

Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma

Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen
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During the year and up to the date of this report, Dr. WONG,
Man Hin Raymond, Mr. WONG, Ying Man John, Mr. MOK,
Kin Hing and Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson, are also directors
in certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. LUK, Yin Yee is
also a director of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year
and up to the date of this report.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association,
at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being or if their number is not three or a multiple
of three then the number nearest one-third shall retire from
office. Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond, Mr. WONG, Ying
Man John and Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson will retire from the
Board by rotation at the forthcoming 2024 AGM.

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond, Mr. WONG, Ying Man John
and Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson shall be eligible and will offer
themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at
2024 AGM has a service contract with the Company or
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

The non-executive Directors do not have specific terms
of appointment but are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 12 to 15 of
this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors
in the shares of the Company, its subsidiaries and other
associated corporations (within the meaning of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:

EERE AT 2RO REBKRAG R

MR20283F12A31H  FEERARAE - WBARREMR
BAB (B&E RFESH RABEERN ([ FH54H6 1)) 2k Hh &8
B - IRIBANA RMKEF DS 352 6M R B « B it At
Aok RE EMRBIEXCIFTE M L AR ERELT
BHERSZESTR([ZESA ) FBAARQR) KB AT
ZRETINT

() Interests in issued shares () BITRGOER
Number of shares
Ri#E
% of total
Issued
Personal Family Corporate Shares
Capacity Interests Interests Interests Total EHERT
&% fBARR e 4 EERE B RHEIE
(Note 1) (Note 5)
(Pi3E1) (BizE5)
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond Beneficial owner 6,427,972 10,100,000 - 16,527,972 3.30%
BEXEET and interest of spouse Note 2)
BB ARRBOER (MizE2)
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John Beneficial owner 58,845,136 = = 58,845,136 11.74%
BREMEE ERBEAA
Mr. MOK; Kin Hing Beneficial owner 2,825,000 = = 2,825,000 0.56%
RpRLE ERBEAA
Non-Executive Directors
FHTEE
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson Interest of spouse & interest - 150,000 107,198,981 107,348,981 21.42%
B flEt of a controlled corporation (Note 3) (Note 4)
ELBR R R X AR AR AR (MzE3) (Mt 4)
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David Beneficial owner 2,721,000 - - 2,721,000 0.54%
e it EREAA
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHHTEE
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson Beneficial owner 300,000 - - 300,000 0.06%
EREERE EREAA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

(i)  Interests in issued shares (Continued)
Notes:

(1) The shares are registered under the names of the Directors
who are the beneficial shareholders.

) Ms. WONG, Hui Ting Zaneta, spouse of Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond, is the beneficial owner.

©)) Ms. SUN, Kwing Hai Amelia, spouse of Dr. WONG, Kin Lae
Wilson, is the beneficial shareholder.

(4)  Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson is the beneficial shareholder of
91.7% of the issued shares of Diamond-Harvest Limited,
which owned 107,198,981 shares in the Company.

5) The percentage was compiled based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 501,324,860 ordinary
shares) as at 31 December 2023.

All the interests disclosed under this section represent long
positions in the shares.

(i)  Interests in underlying shares

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under
eighteen years of age has interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company, or
any of its holding Company, subsidiaries or other associated
corporations, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at
the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved
by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting on
6 June 2003.The Scheme was terminated on 5 June 2013
and all options were lapsed on 19 July 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2023, according to the register of

members kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO and so far as is known to, or can be ascertained
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12 A 31 BEARE - SEEET S (T {05 sk aT gL 8 BUAR R 7 %%
TTR% A7 ek Bk AR B ET S A (A 5 8k AT RE S BN A R BT IR
DR I A A o

B ERE

AAEHEARERT S ([Z5T 8 ) £2003F 6 A6 A#RITZ
BRIEREAE FEEIE - ZETEIR 201346 A5 AL -
HEBREN2022F7 A19 BTt -

FTERRREADFZRGREERD 2 Es

2023 12 A31 B » AR AR IEEFH 60 5 336 15 1R
TEHEEZERREZRM  RESEELAEERZBFT M RE
R TIAL/ BE(TBEIEES)NARRRN MEERK

after reasonable enquiry by the Directors, the following A H#EBRIEEFKFIZE XV ERE 2 & 39 B AR AN T
persons/entities, other than a Director, had an interest in the #5882 # 2 ¢
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
Number of shares
REE
% of total
issued
Registered Corporate Total shares
Capacity shareholders interests B EER BRTRT
54 BERTRR EEES RABEHE ROESE
(Note 5)
(Ft5E5)
Substantial shareholders
FERR
Ms. SUN, Kwing Hai Amelia Beneficial owner & 150,000 107,198,981 107,348,981 21.41%
ezt interest of spouse (Note 1)
ERBA AREENER (Fizx1)
Diamond-Harvest Limited Beneficial owner 107,198,981 - 107,198,981 21.38%
BExBERA (Note 1)
(F¥zE1)
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John Beneficial owner 58,845,136 - 58,845,136 11.74%

BREE

ERAA
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FERFRRAATI 2RO RIEBERGD 2#EH
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued) ~ (4%)

Number of shares
ROBE

% of total

issued

Registered Corporate Total shares

Capacity shareholders interests BREBER BERT

54 BETRR EEES RABEHE RAEAE

(Note 5)

(Ki5E5)

Alpha Luck Industrial Limited Beneficial owner 53,080,800 - 53,080,800 10.59%

ZHEEERAA EEBAA (Note 2)
(F¥zz2)

China North Industries Corp. Interest of controlled - 53,080,800 53,080,800 10.59%
PRI TEBERARA corporations (Note 2)
REE IR B R (Fizx2)

China North Industries Group Interest of controlled - 53,080,800 53,080,800 10.59%
Corporation Ltd. corporations (Note 2)
FEEETXSEFRAR YN 0P e iy (Fizx2)

China South Industries Group Interest of controlled - 53,080,800 53,080,800 10.59%
Corporation corporations (Note 2)
FEEEREEERRAR N 0P e iy (Fizx2)

Mr. David Michael WEBB Beneficial owner 13,137,345 21,477,655 34,615,000 6.90%
(“Mr. Webb") &interest of a (Note 3)
(TWebb &4 1) controlled corporation (FEE3)

EaHAAR
REHZEMER

FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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Report of the Directors
EZERS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

1)

107,198,981 shares of the Company were held through
Diamond-Harvest Limited. Ms. SUN, Kwing Hai Amelia
and her spouse, Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson hold 8.3% and
91.7% of the issued shares of Diamond-Harvest Limited,
respectively.

Alpha Luck Industrial Company Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by China North Industries Corp. China
North Industries Corp. is owned as to 37.54% by China
South Industries Group Corporation and 56.70% owned by
China North Industries Group Corporation Ltd.. The above
companies are wholly-owned by BBl B EEEEE
B9, Therefore, China North Industries Group Corporation
Ltd, China South Industries Group Corporation, China
North Industries Corp and BI#ftBIE EEEREZEE are
deemed to be interested in the 53,080,800 shares of the
Company held by Alpha Lunk Industrial Company Limited.

The number of shares disclosed was based on the latest
disclosure of interest form filed on 5 August 2020 (the date
of relevant event be 31 July 2020) received from Mr. Webb.
According to the filed form, Mr. Webb beneficially owned
18,137,345 shares of the Company and 21,477,655 shares
of the Company were held through Preferable Situation
Assets Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Webb.

The percentage was compiled based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 501,324,860 ordinary
shares) as at 31 December 2023.

All the interests disclosed under this section represent long
positions in the shares of the Company.
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Diamond-Harvest Limited 5 &K A & 107,198,981 fx i 17 °
FME 2+ K E BB = 52 718 £ 9 Bl B Diamond-Harvest
Limited 2 8.3% [ 91.7% Z IR D #EzS ©
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Preferable Situation Assets Limited 3575
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INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of
the directors of the Company is currently in force and was
in force throughout this year. The Company has purchased
suitable insurances for the Directors with respect to their
possible legal proceedings.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions disclosed in note 27(b) to
the financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance subsisted during or at the end of
the year in which the Director or an entity connected with
the Director is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE BUSINESS
COMPETING WITH THE COMPANY

The Directors have no interest in the business that is
competing with the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Hong Kong, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to its existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No substantial contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or existed during
the year.
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Report of the Directors
EZERS

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023, which
do not constitute connected transactions under the Listing
Rules are disclosed in note 27(b) to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there is no related party
transaction set out in note 27(b) to the financial statements
fall into the category of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transaction.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
which covers all of the Group’s employees. Particulars of
these retirement schemes are set out in note 20 to the
financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$1,390,000 (2022: HK$1,462,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the

Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statement’s have been audited
by RSM Hong Kong who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2024 AGM. A
resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong will be
proposed at the forthcoming 2024 AGM.

By Order of the Board

WONG, Man Hin Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Corporate Governance Report
ERERES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company puts great emphasis on corporate
governance by reviewing and strengthening corporate
governance measures from time to time. The board of the
Company believes that shareholders can derive maximum
benefits from good corporate governance.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company was in compliance with the applicable code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(version up to 31 December 2023) (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the List of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises three executive Directors, three
nonexecutive Directors, and three independent non-
executive Directors listed as follows:

Executive Directors:

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond (Chairman)
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing

Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson

Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng (resigned on 21 December 2023)
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma

Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson

Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen

The appointment of Directors is not fixed for a specified
term, but they are subject to the retirement and re-election
requirements at every annual general meeting pursuant
to the Articles of Association. Each of the non-executive
Directors (including the independent non-executive directors
(“INEDs")) is appointed for an unspecified term.
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All INEDs have complied with the requirements of the
Listing Rules and have submitted to the Company annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence
and confirms that all of them are independent parties as
defined in the Listing Rules. Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson
was appointed on 1 January 2013, Ms. LING, Kit Sum
Imma was appointed on 1 June 2020 and Dr. KO, Siu Fung
Stephen was appointed on 1 October 2021.

The family relationship among the Directors is summarized
as follows:

Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond is the son of Dr. WONG, Kin
Lae Wilson and cousin of Mr. WONG, Ying Man John and
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David.

Mr. WONG, Ying Man John and Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David
are brothers. They are cousins of Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond and nephews of Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson.

Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson is the father of Dr. WONG, Man
Hin Raymond and uncle of Mr. WONG, Ying Man John and
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David.

The Directors have conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The Board convenes at least four regular meetings each
year, and will convene further meetings when necessary.
When a regular Board meeting is convened, the Board
documents will be sent to the Directors for review before
the meeting pursuant to the Listing Rules and the CG Code
so that the Directors can keep abreast of the information
to perform their duties and responsibilities. The Board
convened 4 meetings during FY2023.
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The attendance of directors is as follows: BEFHEBEROT :
No. of Board No. of general
meetings attended/ meetings attended/
eligible to attend eligible to attend
HFEEeS Attendance HEREAS Attendance
Name of Members KB/ RER Rate N8/ HEER Rate
REER LEESEERNY HEE  HERRASRE ]2
Executive Directors HiEZE
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond (Chairman) & X B &+ (Z/&) 44 100% 11 100%
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John BRELA 4/4 100% 1A 100%
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing REREE 4/4 100% 11 100%
Non-Executive Direciors HHTEE
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson BRAEL 1/4 25% 0 0%
(Not\e\ 1)
(#1)
Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng BRIFE%EA \ 4/4 100% 1/ 100%
(resigned on 21 December 2023) (BR20235F12 521 BEHE)
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David BRELE 4/4 100% 1A 100%
Independent Non-Executive Directors BT HEHTTEE
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson BRERE 4/4 100% 17 100%
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma 3 (e 4/4 100% i 100%
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen RLEEL 4/4 100% 11 100%
Note: Btk -
1. Due to personal circumstances, Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson 1. BAREABR  |EAETREHFARRRN2023F5 A

was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 19 May 2023 but the Company is of the
view that he is able to develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders by other means of communication.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with
reference to their functions and responsibilities in the
Company, the performance of the Company and the current
market conditions. No Director is allowed to participate
in determining his own remuneration. The remuneration
received by Directors from the Company during FY2023 is
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Board has set up an independent professional
consulting procedure and upon reasonable request, the
Directors are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held

meeting with the INEDs without presence of other Directors
during FY2023
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PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. All the Directors have participated
in continuous professional development, e.g. updated
Listing Rules training, to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills provided by the Group in FY2023. All Directors
were also provided with monthly updates on the Group’s
performance, position and prospects. All Directors have
provided the records of training they received in FY2023
to the Company. Details of the continuous professional
development participated by the Directors for FY2023 are
set out below:
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EENEXER

REBCEERTA  MEEFR2EBEREER  UH
BREMEMBNIGEE - MAESHE 2023 B FEEHL2 A
SENFEXHRR - PIEH LHRRNEI - ABRNEHN
SERHOMBMKEE - ERMAESRH T EHEEE
B BUMAISNEAEN - MAEFHERARRRM
WER 2023 B F R EZAIEIIFCE: - EEMN 2023 WK F
E2ENBETEXERFBHINNOT

Attending Reading
Name of Members training sessions material
REEE SHFHE MEER
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond (Chairman) & XFalE+ (/) 4 4
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John BREHEE v v
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing SfRE A v/ v
Non-Executive Directors HHITEE
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson BEAELT v v
Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng (resigned on 21 ARIEE 4 (B 2023F 12 A21 H
December 2023) BHE) v/ v
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David EHRELA v/ v
Independent Non-Executive Directors B TTEE
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson EEELE v/ v
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma BRI L v v
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen SE 1N v v
MREXZBRAFT —T_—FF=H
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ROLES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is principally responsible for establishing the
development direction of the Group, formulating targets and
business development plans, approving major agreements
and matters, and monitoring the performances of senior
management. It is also responsible for corporate governance
with a view to enhance shareholders’ value. Led by the
three executive Directors, the management is responsible
for implementing the strategies and plans developed by the
Board. The Company has developed a schedule of matters
reserved to the Board for decisions and has separately
identified those functions reserved to the Board. The Board
will review those arrangements on a regular basis to ensure
that the arrangements meet the needs of the Company.

ROLES AND DUTIES OF CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman and the chief executive officer have different
roles. The Chairman is responsible for the operation of
the Board and the chief executive officer is responsible
for managing the operations of the Group. Their functions
have been clearly divided to ensure a balanced distribution
of power and no authority will concentrate on a single
individual.

Dr. Raymond Wong, the Chairman of the Board, an
executive Director and the chief financial officer, is principally
responsible for leading the Board and ensures the Board
to act in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman
ensures that the Board can operate effectively and perform
its proper duties and discuss all important and proper
matters in a timely manner. The Chairman is responsible
for convening Board meetings, consulting, determining and
approving the agenda of each Board meeting, and ensuring
that Directors are provided with sufficient information on
current matters in a timely manner. The Chairman oversees
the structure, number of members and composition of
the Board and makes recommendations to the Board and
the relevant committees on any intended changes. The
Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the Company
formulates good corporate governance practice procedure.
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In addition, Dr. Raymond Wong is responsible for the Group’s
financial reporting, internal control, material procurement
and control, logistics, customs, taxes and legal matters
and compliance, coordinating close cooperation among
all departments, uniting efforts of staff and encouraging
the initiative of staff so as to ensure smooth and effective
operation of the Company’s operations and systems.

Mr. John Wong, the Vice-Chairman, an executive Director
and the chief executive officer, is principally responsible
for the daily operation and management of the Group’s
overall operations and implementing the Board’s operating
strategy and policy and delegating tasks to all departments
for implementation so as to realize the Board’s objectives
and decisions. In addition, he is also responsible for R&D,
production, quality assurance and new product innovations,
coordinating close cooperation among all departments,
uniting efforts of staff and encouraging the initiative of staff
so as to ensure smooth and effective operation of the
Company’s operations and systems.

Mr. MOK, Kin Hing, an executive Director and the chief
operating officer, is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall
operations and implementing the Board’s operating strategy
and policy and delegating tasks to all departments for
implementation so as to realize the Board’s objectives and
decisions. In addition, he is also responsible for supervising
all personnel issues at our Nansha production facilities, all
capital equipment installation and disposal, and overseeing
all employee champions programs to optimize costs and
make sure our facilities are in full compliance with local,
international and environment laws and standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company’s corporate governance structure includes
the Board and three committees under the Board, namely
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee. The Board stipulates the terms of reference for
all committees in writing and specifies clearly the power and
responsibilities of the committees.
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The Board is also collectively responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties as set out in the CG Code,
which include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct applicable to employees and directors; and

(v  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) currently comprises three INEDs, at least
one of them have appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise,
namely Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma (chairlady), Mr. LO, Kwong
Shun Wilson and Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen. The Audit
Committee was established with specific written terms of
reference, mainly responsible for reviewing the consolidated
financial statements and annual and interim reports and
accounts of the Company, submitting relevant reports and
recommendations to the Board, reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems and making recommendations on the appointment
and remuneration of the auditors of the Company and any
matters relating to the termination of appointment. The
chairlady of the Audit Committee and is responsible for
reporting the results and recommendations of the Audit
Committee to the Board after each meeting.
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During FY2023, the Audit Committee convened 2 meetings.
Members of the audit committee and their attendance are
as follows:
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R2023MBEFE - EREZBEEHAM2REE - BXEE
SRENMELFEEBERAT :

No. of meetings

attended/
eligible to attend Attendance
Name of Members HESSE e Rate
REAE EERHESRRE HER
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma (Chairladly) ERLNEZE(FE) 2/2 100%
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson BEETE 2/2 100%
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen S8t 2/2 100%

Tasks undertaken by the Audit Committee during the
year included reviewing the audited consolidated financial
statements and the annual results announcement for the
year ended 31 December 2023, reviewing the interim
report and the interim results announcement for the six
months ended 30 June 2023, considering the accounting
standards adopted, reviewing the explanatory letter about
audit submitted by the auditors to the management and
the response of the management, the basis of opinion and
qualified opinion (if any) made by the auditors in their report.

EREZEEEFEANMEN LIEREERE I 2022F 12 A
STHZERGAVBHRERFERERSE - FHEZE2023
F6A30H6MEAMTERERFHEENE  ZEATEN
MEEr LA BEZHAIRREEEMNEZBE RSB R
MEREORE  ZBAMEERSEMENE REERRE
ER(E)EFE -

FMREBEERAR —T_—FF37

35



36

Corporate Governance Report
ERERES

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) currently comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (chairman), Ms.
LING, Kit Sum Imma and Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen and two
executive Directors, namely Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond
and Mr. WONG, Ying Man John. The Remuneration
Committee was established with specific written terms of
reference, principally responsible for reviewing and approving
remuneration plans for Directors and senior management,
determining the remuneration package of executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits,
pension interests and the payment of compensation. The
Remuneration Committee should consider factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance
based remuneration. The chairman of the Remuneration
Committee is responsible for reporting the meeting results
and recommendations of the Remuneration Committee to
the Board after each meeting.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
model whereby the Remuneration Committee makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of executive Directors and senior management
and to make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors and INEDs.
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During FY2023, the Remuneration Committee convened
1 meeting. Members of the Remuneration Committee and
their attendance are as follows:
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R202BHHFE  HMEEEBRITIANEE - HHERE
SRERELFEBERNT :

No. of meetings

attended/

eligible to attend Attendance
Name of Members HEEBE Rate
REAE EERHESRRE HE =
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (Chairman) — ZBEAE %4 (£/E) 11 100%
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma ERLZ L 11 100%
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen S8t 11 100%
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond EX#EEL 1/ 100%
Mr. WONG, Ying Man Johm ERXSTE 1/ 100%

Tasks undertaken by the Remuneration Committee
during the year included reviewing the remuneration
structure, remuneration policy and bonus system of the
Group, assessing performance of executive Directors,
considering the salary adjustment for the year and
making recommendations to the Board and considering
remuneration of newly appointed Directors. The
Remuneration Committee also ensures that no Director or
senior management member determines his or her own
remuneration.

The remuneration policy of the Group is to determine the
remuneration of executive Directors and senior management
based on their responsibilities, qualifications and working
performance. No Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the five highest paid individual in the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) currently comprise three
INEDs, namely Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (chairman), Ms.
LING, Kit Sum Imma and Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen. The
Nomination Committee is to deal with the appointment, re-
election and retirement of Directors.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy in January
2019. The nomination policy sets out the approach to
guide the Nomination Committee in relation to election,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors. It aims
to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience,
knowledge and diversity of the candidates.

The Nomination Committee considers that in terms of
professional experience, skills and knowledge and the
structure, size and composition of the Board, the present
members of the Board of the Company are generally in
line with the diversity policy of the Company concerning
board members, meeting the present situation and future
development plan of the Company.

During FY2023, the Nomination Committee convened 1
meeting. Members of the Nomination Committee and their
attendance are as follows:

REZEE
ARRAMRAEER ((REZAY ) Rh3LBINTE
EHER - DB ABREERE(ER)  ZRLKLRELE
L - RAZAGHRBEENEE  BRLRENEE -

RRBER20195F 1 ARMIBBHBR - REBERRE T 18
BRAZEGUER ZEREHNZEEENTE - EF
ERFREFSAEBREANRE £ ABNZHEUETE
WG ¥ -

REZBERA/ADABANESKE HEXLR K
EELAMBLEZTE 2RE ABMERETTHEE  EX
HAAXARAEFZILICHER  TEARBHRMRERKER
HE -

R2023MBEFE - REZEEEET1AEH - RBEE
SXRENMELFEBERAT :

No. of meetings

attended/
eligible to attend Attendance
Name of Members HESERE Rate
REEME BEREESERH™ HE=R
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson (Chairman) BB %4 (F/E) 1/1 100%
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma BRI T 1/1 100%
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen soEE L 1/1 100%
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to article 95 of the Articles of Association, the
Board is entitled to appoint any person as Director from
time to time or at any time to fill a casual vacancy or add a
new member to the Board. For nomination, the nominee’s
qualifications, capabilities and potential to make contribution
to the Company shall be taken into consideration by the
nomination committee.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) in January 2019 which sets out
all measurable objectives to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board to enhance effectiveness of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experiences and varying perspectives
appropriate for the Company’s business. All Board
appointments are made on a merit basis with due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of
candidates are based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills and knowledge. The Nomination Committee will review
the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its
continued effectiveness from time to time.
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The Board comprises Directors with a range of expertise
including chemical engineering, science and technologies,
corporate finance and accounting. The mix of the skills
and background of the Directors are appropriate taking
into account the business nature, corporate strategy and
structure of the Company. Besides, the Board is made
up of different age groups and both genders. The Board
considers that its current board composition is diversified
with appropriate balanced professional background, skills,
experience, gender and age. The following chart shows the
diversity profile of the Board as at 31 December 2023:

Number of Directors

ESAH™
8
;
ED
6
5
4 Male NED
3 St
2
INED
1
0
Gender Designation
1l 5

ED — Executive Director
NED - Non-executive Director
INED - Independent Non-executive Director
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liu Pui Yee (“Ms. Liu”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 9 February 2018. Ms. Liu is
responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully appraised of
the relevant corporate governance developments relating
to the Group and facilitating the professional development
of the directors. The Company engages an external service
provider to provide compliance and full range of company
secretarial services to the Company. The primary contact
person of the Company with Ms. Liu is Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond, the Chairman of the Board, an executive Director
and the chief financial officer.

Ms. Liu has received no less than 15 hours relevant
professional training during FY2023.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors
and established written guidelines no less exacting than the
Model Code for senior management and specified persons
who are likely to possess inside information in relation to the
Group.

Having made specific enquiry to the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code for the year ended
31 December 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate risk
management and internal control system to manage risks
on an ongoing basis to reasonably safeguard the interests
of the Company’s shareholders and the Group’s assets.
In addition, there is regular dialogue with the Group’s
internal and external auditors so that both are aware of the
significant factors which may affect their respective scope of
work.

INTERNAL
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The Board has approved an “Inside Information Policy” in
May 2013 with the aim to set out guidelines to the directors,
officers and all relevant employees of the Group to ensure
inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to
the public in equal and timely manner in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations. The term “relevant
employee” refers to employee of the Group, because of his/
her office or employment, who is likely to be in possession
of the unpublished Inside Information.

The Board has also adopted an anti-fraud and anti-bribery
policy. Directors and senior management are responsible
for ensuring the effective implementation, monitoring and
investigating any material fraudulent or bribery activities
committed within the Group.

The Group’s risk management includes regular identification
and review of business risks and control measures to
mitigate such risks. The Group’s internal control system
comprises an established organizational structure as
well as comprehensive policies and standards. Area of
responsibilities of each business and functional unit is clearly
defined to ensure effective check and balance. Procedures
have been designed to safeguard assets from unauthorized
use or disposition, and to ensure that proper accounting
records are maintained and financial information used
internally and for publication is reliable. The internal control
procedures provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material errors, losses and fraud; but deem
sufficient to ensure full compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

The Audit Committee and the Board carry out an
overview every six months on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the
Group. The review covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and risk controls. No material risk
management and internal control aspects of any significant
discrepancies were discovered during the review. Both the
Audit Committee and the Board expressed satisfaction over
the effectiveness and adequacy of both the internal control
procedures and risk management procedures for the year
under review.
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The Board has reviewed and discussed the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of the Company at least
annually to access the management and control of the
risks in ESG. Further discussion on the risks related to
Environmental, Social and Governance are set out in the
separate Environment, Social and Governance Report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The finance department of the Company is managed by a
qualified staff and supervised by the Chairman and chief
financial officer, Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond, who is a
U.S. certified public accountant. With the assistance of
the finance department, the Board will ensure that the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group complies with relevant regulations and applicable
accounting standards.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
(including review of interim financial information and tax
services) for the year ended 31 December 2023 provided
by RSM Hong Kong and its affiliate were approximately
HK$780,000, and HK$160,000 respectively. The statement
of reporting responsibility issued by RSM Hong Kong, the
auditor of the Company, in respect of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 46 to 55.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has maintained communication with its
shareholders through the annual general meeting or other
general meetings and encourages them to participate in general
meetings. Registered shareholders of the Company receive
notices of general meetings by post. The notice of general
meeting contains the agenda, the proposed resolutions and
the voting form. All shareholders of the Company are entitled
to attend the annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meetings of the Company. Shareholders who are unable to
attend the general meeting can fill in the proxy form attached
with the notice of general meeting and return the same to the
share registrar and transfer office of the Company so as to
appoint their representatives or the chairman of the meeting as
their proxies.
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The Board has adopted a shareholders’ communication
policy in May 2013 (the “Shareholders’ Communication
Policy”). Its general policy is to maintain on-going
dialogue with the Shareholders and investing community
and to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The Board reviewed the
communication activities with the shareholders during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and based on such review
was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Right to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to article 68 of the Articles of Association, an
extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
requisition as provided by the Companies Ordinance or by
the requisitionist. The Directors are required to call a general
meeting if the Company has received requests from the
Shareholders of the Company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having a right to
vote at general meetings.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries can be in writing and sent for the attention of the
Board, in one of the following ways:

1. By Post Raymond Industrial Limited
Rooms 1811-1813, 18th floor,
Grandtech Centre,

8 On Ping Street,

Shatin, New Territories

Hong Kong

2. By facsimile  (852) 2341 8669

&) By email ril@rilhk.com
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Procedures to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a
general meeting shall follow the procedures below.

Shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders who have a relevant right to
vote or at least 50 Shareholders who have a relevant right to
vote may request the Company to:

i) give notice of a resolution that may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting of the Company; or

ii) circulate a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed
resolution to be dealt with at a general meeting or
other business to be dealt with at the meeting;

to each Shareholder entitled to receive notice of the meeting.

A request to give notice of a resolution must be received by
the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the annual
general meeting to which the request relates; or (ii) if later,
the time at which notice is given of that meeting. A request
to circulate shareholders’ statement must be received by
the Company at least 7 days before the meeting to which it
relates. Such request may be sent to the Company in hard
copy form or in electronic form.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no significant change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during FY2023.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy in January 2019.
In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take
into account certain factors, including but not limited to
the Group’s expected and actual financial performance,
its retained earnings and distributable reserves, the
Group’s capacity from current and future operation, future
commitments at the time of declaration of dividend.

The dividend policy and the payment of future dividend are
subject to the Board’s continuing determination which would
be in the best interests of the Group and Shareholders and
are in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB R &

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Raymond Industrial Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Raymond Industrial Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 56 to 143, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matters
we identified are:

Key Audit Matter

RARETEE

1. Impairment of trade receivables

1. B 5 W ARFURIE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B YR B AT R &

BEETEH

BRESEREREBERMNFTEHE - ERAENBHELE
EMBHRRNBEFTPREENFR - ZFFTRERME &
EMBHRRETRERBA LML ERERFEE - RAX
TRt RIMERER - RPEERNBREATAS -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RANET N EERERETSE

BB R R E 40 K17 -

Refer to notes 4(r) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had significant trade
receivables of HK$223,215,000 (2022: HK$159,402,000).
No impairment has been recognised during the year.
R2023512A31H - EXEAEARESRURTBE
223,215,000 7T (2022 £F : 7 #159,402,000 7T ) ° & A
EHERRE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on
provision for loss allowances on trade receivables included:
BMHERERTHE S ERBERRE BB EINTOER
Bt

° We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors including subjectivity.
HMBBEZEMAAN T ETERENEETENE
I EL A [ B (R 2R 9 /K S 2R AT Ak B K 38 SR [E]
R -

° We understood and evaluated management’s
key control over the assessment on recoverability
of trade receivable balances and the related loss
allowances, including periodic review on trade
receivables;

B TR EEEEYHE S EUERR AR KD
M KRB ER AN T ZEE - BT SRS

B 5 YRR

FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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RV

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

RRETEE

1. Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

1. B5 W ERFRE ()

BERETSER@E

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN ET N EERERETSEE

BRI BRI E 4 K17 -

Refer to notes 4(r) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management applied judgement in assessing the expected
credit losses. Trade receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection
are assessed individually for provision for expected credit
losses. Expected credit losses are estimated by grouping
the remaining trade receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood of
recovery, taking into account the nature of the customers,
their geographical locations and their ageing categories,
and applying expected credit losses rates to the respective
gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables. The
expected credit losses rates are determined based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience with an adjustment
to reflect current and forward-looking information
which affected the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

EREETEAREEEERERAE - B MBEMKR
HIHBRAEEARRBNT P EHENE SRR TR
HEEBREEETERTMG - HHEEERNREBHRRA
WEERBSHENSRNE S RIRTETOA - WiRs
FHEKEE AT RE Y - ARZEREFPHMLE  MIBLE R
R ARETEHEEBEERANEZRKENRER
WEREARE - HEEEEEXRE SXENELEEES
BERET  WHETHAE  URBEETPEEEWERER

BEIEVE AT KR ATHE LB HY -

° We evaluated the outcome of prior period
assessment of impairment of trade receivables
to assess the effectiveness of management’s
estimation process.

BARHE T AT AR OBR FORE R AR - LART
EREMETAIRNA L -

° Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of trade
receivables aging used by management to estimate
the appropriate provision for loss allowances;
KRR R - RE BB ERANE S RUCRTERER
EZEREIE LA AT S BV 1R A
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

RRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B YR B AT R &

BERETSER@E

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RAENET N AEERRETSEE

1. Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

1. B 5 EWERAR(E ()

Refer to notes 4(r) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI BRI E 4 K17 -

The inherent risk in relation to the assessment of expected
credit losses on trade receivables is considered significant
as the impairment assessment involves significant
estimates and judgement which were subjective. Therefore,
we identified impairment of trade receivables as key audit
matter.

HARER G R B ERGETMAE - BiLt8E 5
WHIEN A EEE BTG EANEERRERAR/EEKN
# o Eit - B REARFOREB R RS EE -

° Obtained management’s assessment on the

expected credit losses allowances of trade
receivables and assessed the reasonableness of
the expected loss rates. We corroborated and
validated management’s assessment based on
the historical settlement pattern, correspondences
with the customers, and evidences from external
sources including the relevant public search results
relating to the financial circumstances of the relevant
customers;
BISEEEHE ZRKEFTEREEBIERENT
ity WEHETEHEE RSB - RPUEERE
TEBENEL - DEBELENEKR - BEFH
BIERINIRORNERE - BIEEERE OB
AR AR

° We assessed management’s assessment of current
market conditions and forward-looking information
such as macroeconomic factors by comparing the
data used by management against publicly available
information; and
B EEEERANBBEARER - RFEE
BEHERNMSRANENEZERERRSART
HES R

o We checked the mathematical accuracy of
management’s calculations for loss allowances of
trade receivables.

HifeE TERETEE HRERNE B EHNE
o

FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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RV

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BARETTEE
2. Valuation of inventories

2. FEfEE

BERETSER@E

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RAENET N AEERRETSEE

Refer to notes 4(1) and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

FERRE R I BRI T4 R 16 »

The Group’s inventories were exposed to inventory
obsolete and excess risks as a result of the fast
technology innovation and macroeconomic challenges.
The determination of the provision amount is complex and
involves significant judgements and estimates because it
depends on the net realisable value of inventories.

MR AR R R ABSBEHE - EXENEFRER
HRBFIERE - BESENETEER  TREXHE R
st - AAEEURNFER A #IRFE -

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s net inventories
amounted to HK$144,473,000 (2022: HK$198,491,000).
Inventory is carried in the consolidated financial statements
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net
realisable value of inventory could be impacted by changes
in economic conditions as well as changes in customers’
preferences and competitors’ strategies in responses to
changes in market conditions.

R2023%12HA31R ESEEMNGEEFERBR
144,473,000 7T (2022 4 7% # 198,491,000 7T ) ° F E 4R
B BmERF IR R E A FIFEBREEIIR - FEHA]
SR FEAESXICERRECART P RIT RRF
FREMSIKAE RN E -

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on net realisable value of inventories included:

BAYEREEHE R ERFEMNTHRTERE

° We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors including subjectivity;
BImAERGESTN T REEHIREMESREEEM
&5 b =K F R E A R E A AR

° We understood and evaluated management’s key
controls over the assessment of the net realisable
value of inventories and related loss allowances
including periodic review on inventories;

BT R A E R A TR RS E A
HERERE (BEEMER) WBERES

° We understood and evaluated the appropriateness

and consistency of the basis management used
in estimating the level of provision for inventories
by comparing the historical accuracy of inventory
provisioning, on a sample basis, to the realised
amount; and reviewing the level of inventory write-
offs;
Hf@BUAMETR B EAFERERERE
HAERN - TR EREEGETFEREK
FRATERARERE - UREMFEMIEKTHES
MR B
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B YR B AT R &

Key Audit Matters (Continued) BRETSHEE)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

RRETEE BN FNAEEFERETSR

2. Valuation of inventories (Continued)
2. FEMLE (&)
Refer to notes 4(f) and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

RS RN A4 R 16 -

The inherent risk in relation to the assessment of the net | e Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
realisable value of inventories is considered significant as inventory aging used by management to estimate
the assessment of net realisable value involve significant the appropriate provision for slow-moving and
estimates and judgements which were subjective. obsolete inventories;

Therefore, we identified valuation of inventories as a key AR - REEEEFEANGTERE UEEHE
audit matter. HABRE T B RE S BB EREN

R A 5 FENTE S RERNEZE M MAE - Bt
BEGFEAZRFERENEERBERASEAN o | o Performed audit analytics on inventory holding and
At - B FEHERT AEREEE - movement data to identify products with indication
of slow-moving or obsolescence; and
&“T?%ﬁﬁ’\]ﬁﬁﬂ@ib%@%i&ﬁ%g DHT - AERIE
TSR M EM

o Compared the carrying amounts of a sample of
inventories to their net realisable value through a
detailed review of sales subsequent to the year
end. Where there were no subsequent sales of
the respective products after the year end, we
challenged management as to the realisable value
of the products, corroborating explanations with
the aging, sales orders, historical margins and
marketability of the respective inventories, as
appropriate.

BRFAREFRENFEEBN - BT AEE
BERmEERETERFEETHR - HREFK
BARAEBELNER  RMERMEEERZSERD
AEREERDER  WERKEK HETE B
FEEMNERAEBFEFENTISAHEE N (WER) £E
Hfpk o
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BB R &

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included
in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B YR B AT R &

REMBE FEUBRROEM

BB ERAGAMBRREBES T FEEARER
(T ERFFREREB) MG AEARE  YHARSH
PIE R AR BEN R E - RPMRIBEE 2 FHERDI 2 406 (R 1E
FEAT (ESBR)FEHRE BRIt ZIMANBREREELME
B e RPIBTIRAREN AR REMEMNARBSALEE
fIELE

BERBER —BSKFHRE  EXTMREZREBEE
EAETHENRERAMFENERRERL - RER
AT REEREF SRR M AL - AR BB A IEAHI A5
FERPENZEFHAMBRR]IELNWEERE  ABE
* o

FREREBETEUETETN D RAEBESR
AR B R HE L RIS FRERRAEE - TP

. BRI FHA R A M B BR P FEEARERL (TR
RMGFFHREH) WER - &t RTRYZEME
REVEIZF  YERBRDEENETZE - /R
M BRIRHER - AR RIS RO - 3
& MEER  EREUESBEAES - BibR
BRAFEREARERAN AR SR HRENE
RERERRAE R

. S R AR A M BME B IR AR - ARGHEE R
EiHERF - BEMYIYE BEREARIEH NG
HBERIER -

o TEEEAIRARH RO R AR R 5
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ms. Leung Wan Yi Winnie.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

22 March 2024

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two,
28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
(For the year ended 31 December 2023)

mEeEEGER

(B E20234F 12 531 A1FF/E)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABEREN)
2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
g BT T BT T
Revenue WA ) 1,362,732 1,063,058
Cost of sales SHERAR (1,179,007) (933,071)
Gross profit EF 183,725 129,087
Other revenue Hapdg A 6 15,178 3,455
Other net income E Aty F e 6 11,809 9,438
Selling expenses HEER (13,569) (12,350)
General and administrative expenses ~ —#& R 1T E (118,645) (96,194)
Profit before taxation BREL AR 78,498 34,336
Income tax expense Frisfisz it 8 (10,627) (3,832)
Profit for the year attributable to 7~ T B SR FE(L
shareholders of the Company REERF 9 67,871 30,504
Earnings per share BREF
Basic, HK cents AR B 12 13.54 6.09
Diluted, HK cents g - Al N/ATER 6.09
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

(For the year ended 31 December 2023)

GeRaRkHME2AERER
(BZE2023F 12 F 31 HIFFE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BB
Profit for the year attributable to 4~ B IR R FE(L A< E B3 F
shareholders of the Company 67,871 30,504
Other comprehensive income Hiv2mUW
ltem that may be reclassified to ZERENFEENERMNIER ¢
profit or loss:
— Exchange differences on - MEIBINETE B TS IR ER EE A RO PE K AR
translation of financial
statements of foreign operations (5,103) (25,475)
Total comprehensive income AATRRREMAEFEZLHINGEEAE
for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company 62,768 5,029

NMREXBRAF

TR FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(At 31 December 2023)
ma BRI R
(20234 12 31 A#E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE BT T BT I

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB KRB 13 119,077 132,498
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 6,990 7,552
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE 15 3,028 2,865
129,095 142,915

Current assets REEE
Inventories PEASS 16 144,473 198,491
Trade and other receivables B 5N E bR TR 17 248,009 178,355
Current tax assets BIEAFIAE &= 14 2,058 =
Bank and cash balances RITRIBELER 18 367,415 334,379
761,955 711,225
Current liabilities RBAE

Trade and other payables 25 REAMEIRER 19 215,764 206,918
Dividends payable FERTAR B 339 351
Current tax liabilities BIHATR I B & 14 1,249 846
217,352 208,115
Net current assets REBEEFE 544,603 503,110
Total assets less current liabilities #E&EERABHARS 673,698 646,025

Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIBEE 15 157 159
NET ASSETS EEFE 673,541 645,866

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXRKHE
Share capital &N 23(a) 467,676 467,676
Reserves (=] 205,865 178,190
TOTAL EQUITY R 673,541 645,866

Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2024 and

are signed on its behalf by:

WONG, Man Hin Raymond
BEXHE

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(For the year ended 31 December 2023)

GERREDR
(BZE2023F 12 531 HIFFE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)
PRC
Share  Exchange Capital Retained statutory Total
capital reserve reserve earnings reserve equity
A& BN e B BEER TEEERE iR
(note 23(a))  (note 23(c)(i)  (note 23(c)(i) (note 23(c)if)
(Mtst2s() (MEE23(c)))  (FzE23(0))) (F&x23(c)i)

Notes ~ HK$000  HKE000  HK000  HKB0O0  HK$O000  HK$000
M ARTR ARTr  BRTn BRIt BETR ARTx

At 1 January 2022 R202%F151 A48 467,578 58,520 134 93,314 51,284 670,830

Changes in equity for 2022: 2022 E v EH%EH

Profit for the year REEHRH - - - 30,504 - 30,504
Exchange differences on BERNERMIHRREL

translation of financial MELER

statements of foreign operation - (25,475) - - - (25,475)
Total comprehensive income 2ENELE = (25,475) = 30,504 = 5,029

Appropriation to PRC statutory BT R ERF

reserve - - - (1,892) 1,892 -
Dividends approved in respect of ~ #AERR &,
~ current year K% 23(0)() - - - (10,026) - (10,026)
- previous year -fF 23(b)i) - - - (20,053) - (20,053)

Shares issued under share option 2 %17 7 SRR IR 7

scheme
— gross proceeds - Eh 23(a)(i 86 - - - - 86
~ transfer from capital reserve - BELGEEY 12 = (12) - - -
Share options lapsed BIER A = = (122) 122 - -
% (05,475) (134) (1,345) 1,892 (24,964)
At 31 December 2022 2022 12 A 31 B&4 467,676 33,045 - 91,969 53,176 645,866
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(For the year ended 31 December 2023)
GEEREEX

(BZE 20234 12 A 31 HIFFE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(B REN)
PRC
Share  Exchange Capital Retained statutory Total
capital reserve reserve earnings reserve equity
RA& BN ERfifs REER DEEERHE AR
(note 23(a)  (note 23(c)())  (note 23(c)(ii) (note 28(c)i))
(FisE2s@)  (MisE2s))  (RizE23()i) (FzE23(c)i)
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i BTt A%t BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2023 120231 A1 AEE 467,676 33,045 - 91,969 53,176 645,866
Changes in equity for 2023: 20235 2 EH%E
Profit for the year REREH - - - 67,871 - 67,871
Exchange differences on RESNEBNIBRRES
tranglation of financial MELER
statements of foreign operation - (5,103) - - - (5,103)
Total comprehensive income SRMEEE = (5,103) = 67,871 = 62,768
Appropriation to PRC statutory ~ EIATF HERH
reserve - - - (2,723 2,723 -
Dividends approved in respect of ~ #tERR &,
- current year -KE 23(0)(i) - - - (15,040) - (15,040)
- previous year -f#F 23(o)i) - - - (20,053) - (20,053)
- (5,103) - 30,055 2,723 27,675
At 31 December 2023 202312 F 31 B 467,676 21,942 - 122,024 55,899 673,541
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(For the year ended 31 December 2023)

SEBHERER
(B FE20234F 12 H31 A1FFE)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)
2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
s BT T BT T
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING K& EZBHHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation R 75 A3 ) 78,498 34,336
Adjustments for: FHEE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENESE 9 478 497
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRETE
equipment 9 26,115 31,082
Foreign exchange differences, net EH FER (5,423) (12,552)
Bank interest income RITFEUA 6 (15,178) (3,455)
Net loss on disposal of property, HEYE  HENKEEERFEE
plant and equipment 6 359 15
Obsolete moulds and toolings BEEE A & T A sRREE
written off 9 23,588 417
Write-down of/(reversal of write- e (DBRE) FEF5E
down of) inventories, net 9 2,089 (66)
Operating profit before working EEESHE KL RA
capital changes 110,526 50,274
Decrease in inventories FERD 51,841 21,467
(Increase)/decrease in trade B 5 M H MR R (3E2) R
and other receivables (69,654) 146,044
Increase/(decrease) in trade 5 REMEMEREM, CRD)
and other payables 8,846 (76,316)
Cash generated from operations EEE4LZHRE 101,559 141,469
Tax paid: RIS
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EBNEREH (5,772) (3,106)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid PRI EERY T (4,041) (1,457)
Net cash generated from operating &&EFEEE 2R FE
activities 91,746 136,906

MERBEARAT —T-—F4%1H 61



62

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(For the year ended 31 December 2023)

MERERER
(Bt 22023 12 A 31 AL F/F)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UBE®REN)

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi5E BT T BT I
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING RETHEENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and EEME - BE L&
equipment (40,505) (20,102)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEDE - BEMREMSI0E
plant and equipment 1,672 93
Interest received MBI A 15,178 3,455
Net cash used in investing BRETHIHZREFE
activities (23,655) (16,554)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING METBHELENRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from shares issued under BITREIRERR (D 2 W 2s
share option scheme 23(a)(ii) - 86
Dividends paid SRR (35,105) (30,050)
Net cash used in financing METHTHZREFE
activities (35,105) (29,964)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HeRkBESEHEEBEREMEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 32,986 90,388
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R1A1BZBREREES%EEE
AT 1 JANUARY 334,379 244,802
Effect of foreign exchange rate NHNEERSH 2 E
changes 50 (811)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RA12831HZHREK
AT 31 DECEMBER He%HEER 367,415 334,379
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH ReRRESEEEBBHIW
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITHIR & &5 18 367,415 334,379
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l. GENERAL INFORMATION

Raymond Industrial Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong. The address of
its registered office and principal place of business is Rooms
1801 — 1813, 18th Floor, Grandtech Centre, 8 On Ping
Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong. The Company’s
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is sale of electrical
home appliances. The principal activities and other
particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Dr. WONG,
Kin Lae Wilson is the ultimate controlling party of the
Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements for year ended 31
December 2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”).

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”).
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“‘HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and with the requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules -
Amendments to HKAS 12
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies” for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1
“Presentation of Financial Statements” is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with
“material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material
to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are
added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting
policies set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) —
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong

The Group is operating in Hong Kong are obliged to
pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances.
Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory and voluntary MPF
contributions to the trustee who administers the assets
held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each
individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s
accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’
MPF contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of the
HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes
the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance payment
and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take
effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition,
under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the
date of termination of employment) is used to calculate the
portion of LSP in respect of the employment period before
the Transition Date.

In July 20283, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the
accounting for the offsetting mechanism and the impact
arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has implemented
the guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with
the LSP obligation retrospectively so as to provide more
reliable and more relevant information about the effects of
the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2023

3. BRAFEIREBRIEBYBREER (@)

b) EREBSTMASHEREBEUHAGIMNR
R (HRe ) - REBZE(RE®])H
HRHE I B9 HT S B

AEBGEELBES  AEBHEETERATRERXNRR
& o BRI - AEBERZEAFELBRHIERSBEERE
ST ZXREAZMIERBAARERABRENERE
E - RIBEF 57 EREBIED]) - JEFFH BE T &95R B 1K
FIPTER RERAR B RE P RIRE - W2022F6H - &
ABRRIIT R BT B IR TIEC2022 FEME MR K BLES
(2 ) (IERT) 1)) (MERTHRBI]) - BUBERREER
MBEEHRRERESBHERELRRE (TBUH]) - B
HE 202555 A1 BIEXN AR (TEHIA 1) - thoh - R
EETIRD - BEEESBH AN EAMEENRRE D
SUABH A (BRERELZA) ZARE—EANITE

H o
Ft

R2023F7 A - EESMASTIIELEREREZ - K
RELPEHINSTTZE) - BE T EPEFINEEHESIA
REEBIRBRES - RREEIRHIELNZE - ER
e ARECEPEERBTESHMASREREEST
BWES - UREBREPRE RBUENEENE R ER
FHRMER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) —
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong (Continued)

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from
employer MPF contributions that have been vested with the
employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s
LSP benefits as a deemed contribution by the employee
towards the LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19
to account for the deemed employee contributions as a
reduction of the service cost in the period in which the
related service is rendered.

Based on the HKICPA’s guidance, as a result of the
Abolition, these contributions are no longer considered
“linked solely to the employee’s service in that period”
since the mandatory employer MPF contributions after the
Transition Date can still be used to offset the pre-transition
LSP obligation. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to
view the contributions as “independent of the number of
years of service” and the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these
deemed contributions should be attributed to periods
of service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit
applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19.

The application has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance and on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(c) Revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments
to standards and interpretation that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

Effective for accounting
periods beginning
on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 -
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 1 —
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

1 January 2024

Amendments to HKFRS 16 —
Lease Liability in a Sales and
Leaseback

1 January 2024

Hong Kong Interpretation 1 January 2024
5 (Revised) Presentation

of Financial Statements —

Classification by the Borrower

of a Term Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand Clause

(“HK Int 5 (Revised)”)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7 — Supplier Finance
Arrangements

1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack 1 January 2025
of Exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  To be determined by the
HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution HKICPA
of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will
not have material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgements in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgements or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 31.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 4(r). Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received or
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required if the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets.

(c)  Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than cost of construction in
progress described below). Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any (see note

4(q).

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives at the principal annual
rates as follows:

Buildings held for own use
which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair
value of the building could
be measured separately from
the fair value of the leasehold
land at the inception of the
lease (see note 4(g))

4.0% — 4.5% straight line

Leasehold land is depreciated
over the unexpired term of
lease (see note 4(g))

2.0% straight line

Plant and machinery 9.0% - 18.0% straight line

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

9.0% — 33.3% straight line

Motor vehicles 25.0% reducing balance

and 18.0% straight line
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The cost of construction in progress includes the cost of
machinery, materials, construction expenditures and other
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
condition for its intended use. Construction in progress
is not depreciated until it is completed and ready for its
intended use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit of loss.

(e) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are primarily
warehouses and carpark. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the lease liability. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term. Impairment losses are recognised in accordance
with accounting policy set out in note 4(q).

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()  Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. The costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(g0 Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

(h)  Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)  Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 4(r)).

() Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

(k)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) in accordance with the policy set out in note
4(r).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(I)  Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities
and equity instruments are set out below.

(i) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(i) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its

liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts
and sales rebate.

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sales of electrical home appliances is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been shipped to the wholesaler’s
specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the wholesaler
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price
to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the goods. A receivable is recognised by
the Group when the goods are delivered to the wholesaler
as this represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage
of time is required before payment is due.

(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset.

(iii)  Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(n)  Product development costs

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research
findings are applied to a plan or design for the production
of new or substantially improved products and processes,
is capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources
and the intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

(o) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
MPF contributions expected to be offsetted as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in term of
HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it is measured on a net basis.
The estimated amount of future benefit is determined after
deducting the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that
have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(p) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(p) Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
1o settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or
1o realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim
special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets
or in relation to qualifying expenditure (e.g. the Research
and Development Tax Incentive regime in PRC or other
investment allowances). The Group accounts for such
allowances as tax credits, which means that the allowance
reduces income tax payable and current tax expense. A
deferred tax asset is recognised for unclaimed tax credits
that are carried forward as deferred tax assets.
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and
where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is
the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-
generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata
amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused
by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on trade
receivables and instruments that are measured at amortised
cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries in
which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s
core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulffil
its contractual cash flow obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no
past due amount.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

= information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting
date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for
assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation. The discount rate used to determine the
present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

(t)  Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SENKBRERMNEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABERER)
5. REVENUE 5 WA

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by AN FERFZEREDREFEPEH WAL LT -
major products for the year is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Revenue from contracts with REBUEREEDF15FEERKA
customers within the scope of BEEESHZBA
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products — REEEmMmNE- EVIEE
sales of goods 1,362,732 1,063,058

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a  ANSREHEUA T b2 2 (AR R B EB G MR EFIA -
point in time in the following geographical regions:

Manufacture and sale of electrical
home appliances

SASSHENEEMEE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Primary geographical markets FEHETS
— Asia — oM 2,275,444 1,748,169
— Europe - BUM 234,725 218,263
— Latin America - R T ZEM 218,049 25,054
— North America —JbE=M 271,496 281,680
— Rest of the world - HREH 22,596 8,410
Segment revenue D EBA 3,022,310 2,281,576
Inter-segment revenue WER S ERUA
~ Asia — M (1,659,578) (1,218,518)
Revenue from external customers HINE P ZUA 1,362,732 1,063,058
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(A hEN)
6. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET 6. HkAREM TNz
INCOME
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Other revenue Hiblr A
Bank interest income RITHEUA 15,178 3,455
Other net income HhFEEs
Net gain on disposal of scrap materials &R H U5 F 48 2,798 1,611
Net exchange gain b s TR 7,382 1,104
Net loss on disposal of property, plant  HEWE © BE MREEIEF5E
and equipment (359) (15)
Installation fee income ZHEB WS - 2,133
Government subsidy income BT 8 Bh M s 388 2,267
Sundry (expense)/income Hi(BA) Mz (403) 568
Rental income ez 2,003 1,770
11,809 9,438

7.  SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture
and sale of electrical home appliances. The electrical
home appliances are manufactured within the Group’s
manufacturing facilities located in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). The Group’s operating segments are
determined based on information reported to the senior
executive management, being the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”) of the Group for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance,
focused on customer locations. During the current year,
the senior executive management has revisited its internal
reporting structure. As a result, the operating segments of
the Group have been redefined on a continental basis, as
opposed to the previous country/region-based classification.
The comparative figures of segment information for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were re-presented to follow the
current year presentation accordingly.
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The identified reportable operating segments are as follows:

° North America — mainly including the United States
of America and Canada

° Latin America — mainly including Mexico

° Europe — mainly including the United Kingdom and
Netherlands

° Asia — mainly including the PRC, Korea, and Japan

For the operating segments of Australia and Africa, they
have been included within the “rest of the world” due to
neither of these operating segments meeting the quantitative
thresholds required for classification as reportable segments.

(@) Segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the profit or loss, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current
assets with the exception of tax balances. Segment liabilities
include trade and other payables, with the exception of
tax balances and dividends payable, attributable to the
manufacture and sales activities of the individual segments.
Segment non-current assets do not include deferred tax
assets.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
Segment profit or loss do not include other revenue and
other net income or loss, and the depreciation of assets not
attributable to those segments.

The measurement used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation”. To arrive at adjusted
EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items
not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
other head office or corporate administration costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

() Segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, management is provided with segment
information concerning inter-segment sales, interest income
and expense from cash balances managed directly by
the segments, depreciation and additions to non-current
segment assets used by the segments in their operations.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the year is set out below.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

7. oEHER®E
) 2HEZ EERAG®H)

BRESHERDAREBTDAZ D BB - B M ERM
BRANBHEEDBEA - MEBMARBDBRITEELR
RGBT ZERMENECEN B 2RO EELZD
BEH - REDEHEZBRI2EHIMEES L ZER

FRARETAEERSBTRERBABUDEERRTE
DERBEZERFIIN T -

Electrical home appliances

FRER
North America Latin America Europe Asia Rest of the world Total
FEN ATEN B i A% it
2023 202 202 202 2023 02 2023 A2 2028 202 2023 202
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS 000
BT | EETn | AMTR | BMTn | MRTm | BT | MMTm | B4 | AMn | RMTR | #BTR | AR
Revenue from external 1% F 2
customers 211,4% 261,680 218,049 25,054 24,125 218263 615,866 529,61 225% 8410 | 1362732 | 1,063,058
tersegment revenve~ WEIAEIA - - - - - - | 1eseEs | 1218518 - - | 1esems | 1218518
Reportable segment £ EREHET 2
tevenug recognised  TEEABUA
ata point in time 4% | 261,680 28,049 25,064 W45 | 218263 | 225444 | 1,746,169 25% 8410 | 3022310 | 2281076
Reportable segment %4 B
profit (adjusted (CHZEBITDA)
EBITDA) 16,561 14049 12,497 48 13,454 10887 100,135 81978 1,24 1250 22,041 108,582
Reporiable segment assets 1412 31 BZ 55
watdDecomber  SUEE - - - - - - ok | 1000453 5 - o | 1000453
Reportablesegment K121 AZATHE
lebies as at 31 AEE
December - - - - - - | (o495 | (376,097) - - | (a5 | (376,097)
Additons o non-curent AEE RS DEEEN
segment assets
(uring the year - - - = - = 40,505 20,102 - — 40505 20,102
FMRBEERAR —T - —FF%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment

DEER (@)

Lo 3] N = R \
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities (b) TEIRA - B - BERAFZHE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT

Revenue WA
Reportable segment revenue AR & SR A 3,022,310 2,281,576
Elimination of inter-segment revenue  MIE82 BBUK AR 3 (1,659,578) (1,218,518)
Consolidated revenue SEWA 1,362,732 1,063,058
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT IT

Profit or loss B
Reportable segment profit ATERE 5 E0m F) 232,941 108,582
Elimination of inter-segment profits AR5 B e 1 HE 58 (154,837) (55,560)

Reportable segment profit derived from {EANE B INRFE 2 A] 3R 0 20 5

Group’s external customers 78,104 53,022
Other revenue and other net income  EL{ I A K B U 28 26,987 12,893
Depreciation e (26,593) (31,579)
Consolidated profit before taxation SLEBRTART 78,498 34,336
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ASREDHEE 935,499 1,020,453
Elimination of inter-segment receivables &R 30 Uk BR 20K 84 (49,535) (169,178)
885,964 851,275
Current tax assets BNEATH I & 2,058 =
Deferred tax assets FEEFRTBE B 3,028 2,865
Consolidated total assets RABEE 891,050 854,140
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

—~
G
0

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

PERA - B - BEERBBZHE

(Continued)

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T

Liabilities =V
Reportable segment liabilities ARED (294,954) (376,097)
Elimination of inter-segment payables ~ AI#85 &6 JEHEE KA B 79,190 169,179
(215,764) (206,918)
Dividends payable FERTAR B (339) (351)
Current tax liabilities BIEARIIB B & (1,249) (846)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE (157) (159)
Consolidated total liabilities REBAE (217,509) (208,274)

(c) Revenue from major customers

Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted

FEEFRA

REBEFPHBZWRA  BEFPDIMEAKEHHEA10%

to 10% or more of the total revenue of the Group, is set out  stBA_E » 55107 ¢
below:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T ST I
Customer A ZEA 462,470 311,480
Customer B =FB 261,243 33,376
Customer C ®FC 243,219 246,339
Customer D ZFED 153,991 171,916
FMREEBARAT —T_—FFif
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

8.  INCOMETAX EXPENSE 8. FISBixH
(a) Income tax has been recognised in profitor (a) FIEHEERBEPEZNT :
loss as follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current tax - Hong Kong ENHEAFLIE - BRFTBH
Profits Tax
Provision for the year (note 14) FARE (FE14) 1,803 3,821
Over-provision in respect of prior years @1t EBEE R (65) (57)
1,738 3,764
Current tax - PRC Enterprise BNEAFLE - AR EATER
Income Tax
Provision for the year (note 14) FRBE (st 14) 8,494 1,356
PRC Withholding Income Tax for year S RF BIFEHIFTEEL 2,654 =
Over-provision in respect of prior years @1t ZBEaRE (2,057) (1,242)
9,091 114
Deferred tax ELEBIE
Origination and reversal of temporary i = E M E £ FE O (F1EE15)
differences (note 15) (202) (46)
10,627 3,832

Notes:
0} Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying group entity
established in Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25%, and profit
above that amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%.
The profits of the group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered Profit Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a
rate of 16.5%.
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(i)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Income tax has been recognised in profit or
loss as follows: (Continued)

: (Continued)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

A subsidiary in the PRC was qualified as a high and new
technology enterprise and taxed at a preferential tax rate of
15% (2022: 15%).

PRC Withholding Income Tax

PRC Withholding Income Tax under double tax arrangement
at a rate of 5% would be imposed on payment relating
to dividend received to the Company that holds directly
at least 25% of the payer’s capital. Such tax rate may be
further reduced by applicable tax treaties or arrangements.

The reconciliation between the income tax
expense and the product of profit before
tax multiplied by the applicable tax rates is
as follows:

f i

(i)

(i

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(Bs%REBL)
e H @
FEHReEESTEIROT : (&)

(#8)

SET SR v

—FHERPENHE AR ERRRRIIRREE - R15%H)

BEMREREF (20224F : 15%) °

FhEIFEFIATS T

RIBEBRB LY - PEBIZ5% WX BURRERFAN
RAED26% EARH R AIREIMAE B RIMFIR - EHN
B E Sk 2 PER] e & — IR -

FrEBBERRARAFERUERRRNRE
ZERHERMT

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Profit before taxation BR% A A A 78,498 34,336
Notional tax on profit before taxation, &A@t l@ BRI KT E 2
calculated at the rates applicable to BREADE M B EDIA
profits in the jurisdictions concerned 12,085 5,621
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses  TAJFIBR Sz ) 2 Fii% 52 28 805 128
Tax effect of non-taxable income IEERTRURA Z RIS 2 (2,549) (563)
Effect of temporary differences not R EERSIERRITE
recognised (113) 45
Over-provision in respect of prior years B F [Z ERRE RS (2,122) (1,299)
PRC Withholding Tax R ETEHIATIS AL 2,654 -
Tax effect of research and IR 2B 2
development tax credit (133) =
Actual tax expense EREBES N 10,627 3,832
FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

9. PROFIT FOR THEYEAR

The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

9. FEEF

AEBAFEERMEFTA (R A THIA -

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Staff costs (including directors’ BIfRA (BREESHS (HEE10))
remuneration (note 10))
Salaries, wages and other benefits e - TEREAMER (FEEQ))

(note (i) 220,372 190,191
Discretionary bonuses BB 2 4L 5,416 2,000
Contributions to defined contribution SR E #FE RS 2 L FKEE

retirement plans 16,448 16,854

242,236 209,045
Other items HmIg g
Cost of inventories sold (note (i) FEHENA (HEE i) 1,153,330 933,071
Write-down of inventories FERE 2,424 912
Reversal of write-down of inventories 77 & Ji (& [a] (335) (978)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 478 497
Depreciation of property, plant and M - EREETE

equipment 26,115 31,082

Auditor’s remuneration Z RN &

— Audit services - BB

— provision for the year - FNEAE 780 750
— under-provision in prior year - BEFERETR 40 40
— Non-audit services - EBFEA 160 150
Product development costs (note (i) 2 M2 EAA (FEEE (i) 46,767 39,115
Obsolete moulds and toolings written @518 B [ T B $REF (BT (iv)

off (note (iv)) 23,588 417
Expenses relating to short-term HEREESENER (BIEE R

lease (included in general and THRERF) (V)

administrative expenses) (note (v)) 502 -
Expenses relating to leases of low HEEELEENESENER (81

value assets (included in cost EFERAFM—RITERERS) (H:E V)

of inventories and general and

administrative expenses) (note (v)) 473 469
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(i)

(i

(iv)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, COVID-19 related
government grants amounting to HK$620,000 have been
offset against salaries, wages and other benefits.

Cost of inventories sold includes approximately
HK$196,331,000 (2022: HK$178,334,000) relating to staff
costs and depreciation, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above.

Product development costs include approximately
HK$27,539,000 (2022: HK$26,063,000) relating to staff
costs and depreciation, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
launched various new items and products with new
specifications, significant quantities of moulds and tooling
were considered obsolete as new models and products are
in place. Consequently, the Group obsoleted and wrote off
moulds and tooling with carrying amount of HK$23,588,000
(2022: HK$417,000) during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group leases various warehouses and carpark for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of one month to two years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

(i

(iv)

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

FEBRN @

HZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE © H2019 B RS HAEEN
BT B) & E 620,000 ' BEEH € » TERKEMET
RIS o

FERABIEE TR RITE A% 196,331,000 7T (2022
& B#178,334,0007T) © IMEER EAERIFEESEE
e -

EmAEXABERBE TRARITE LB 27,539,000
JC (2022 4 : ¥ 26,063,0007T) + INVEIER il FE &8
ERBLHE -

HEC02F12A31ALEFE  AEBMEL TSEAFH
BENTERNER  BEEHMAFRMERNIIN - KEE
BT EWRACLBE - At - NEBRFEANEE LR
BRERTI{E B8 15 23,588,000 7T (2022 4F : 78# 417,000 7T)
WIEARTEA -

HE2023F N2022F 12 A31HILFE AEBHEES
ErEREBEGAHEE - HEARMNERITHRA—EA
EMF - AEKAEREFEABRBEN  25&ENE
A EFRFE S - e T EHMTE N B MO RE
B AEEERASRMNTERITET AR ATHITEHR

FMREBEERAR —T_—FF37
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SENKBRERMNEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REMN)

0. BENEFITSAND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10.

(@) The remuneration of every director is set (a)

out below:

EENRENER
BUEENMSHIOT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

BEARTES (FREFLAZRFAR) RENHE UM S

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Discretionary ~ Retirement
Directors’ in kind bonuses scheme
fees 2 #1E  contributions Total
e  ORERER  BHZTA BREER a5t
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BRI BT T BETT
Year ended 31 December 2023 Z2023512 831 REEL
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond BEXBEBL(FE)

(Chairman) 220 3,888 497 300 4,905
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John BRGEE(FFE)

(Vice-Chairman) 170 3,988 397 240 4,795
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing Rlg@mfis 150 2,122 297 162 2,731
Non-executive directors FHITES
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson BRMEL 150 190 - - 340
Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng (note (i)~ BIFIE 24 (3L () = = - - -
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David =AML 150 - - - 150
Independent non-executive BUFHITES

directors
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson BEERE 210 - - - 210
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma BROET 210 - - - 210
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen sLEEL 210 - - - 210

1,470 10,188 1,191 702 13,551
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

0. BENEFITSAND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10. EEZEMRIZMER (&)
(Continued)

@) BUESHMESFIINOT (@)

(@) The remuneration of every director is set
out below: (Continued)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether

of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REABEEZ (THEARAREFAR) RENHEIELME

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Discretionary Retirement
Directors’ in kind bonuses scheme
fees g B contributions Total
we  ZRMRER BRZEL RASHER &at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BETT BT
Year ended 31 December 2022 £2022412 A31 BEEIE
Executive directors BTES
Dr. WONG, Man Hin Raymond &N EE+(ZE)

(Chairman) 220 3,878 480 300 4,878
Mr. WONG, Ying Man John ERGKE(GEE)

(Vice-Chairman) 170 3,973 380 240 4,763
Mr. MOK, Kin Hing Rfg®fts 150 2,112 260 162 2,684
Non-executive directors FHTES
Dr. WONG, Kin Lae Wilson BRAMNEL 150 257 200 - 607
Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng (note (i)~ RRIEMESEA4 (BHE()) - - - - -
Mr. WONG, Ying Kit David FHRELE 150 - - - 150
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors
Mr. LO, Kwong Shun Wilson BEELE 210 - - - 210
Ms. LING, Kit Sum Imma BEOET 210 - - - 210
Dr. KO, Siu Fung Stephen BOgEL 210 - - - 210

1,470 10,220 1,320 702 13,712
FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

10. BENEFITSAND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(@) The remuneration of every director is set
out below: (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there was no amount paid or payable by the Group to the
directors or any of the highest paid individuals as set out
in note 11 below as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. Except
for the agreed waiver of director’s fee for the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 by Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng,
there was no other arrangement under which a director
has waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Note:

0] Mr. XIONG, Zhengfeng has agreed to waive his director’s
fee during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023
and resigned on 21 December 2023.

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those disclosed in note 27(a), no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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0. EENFZNER @)

@ BUEEHMESHIIIOT : (&)

HZE2028F N2022F 12 A31HIEFE  AEBEHESL
MNREMESSA T @R &S HMALIER
MAXEENFESMARE B ABERFE - BRAREE
HERBHREEHE2022F K 20234 12 A31 HILFENE
EReIN WEEMGZHATREKRERNEERZ2023F K&
2022 12 A 31 A L FZ R TR -

Wi

i) BEIFIE 4 R B AR E Z 2022 FF )2 2023 F 12 A 31 B 1L
EHESHE RN 2023F 12 A 21 BEHE -

b) EBEXRS X RFERSEPHEAFFE

BREEE27(a) MEESN - MF P A FAEARREHERRLDTF]
RANFTZAREERGRARREEREZHESTBEX
M (TRERIER) BRIEARS - THREHH—
F T RHR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included three (2022: three) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in note 10. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2022: two) individuals are
set out below:

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

. EVERSEHEMAL
AEESMEEHMALTFBRIEIM(2022F : 3 )EF -
BEZMESEHNWE10 BT 201(2022F : 20i1) &=
AL ZBE T

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT IT

Salaries and other emoluments E =R = 1,220 1,092
Discretionary bonuses BIS B RRICLL 340 260
Retirement scheme contributions RIRE R 100 92
1,660 1,444

The emoluments of the other two (2022: two) individuals
with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

T B 5 = B B A+ 267 (2022 4F = 2471) BHEAEBID AT -

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
HKS$NIl = HK$1,000,000 B Z T2 A% 1,000,000 7T
2 2
FMREEBARAT —T_—FFif
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SENKBRERMNEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LB REN)
12.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. BREF
(@) Basic earnings per share @ BREFEF

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on  # & & RERZFZ AR R BB R FEAL ANF Em IS
the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the 67,871,000 7T (2022 £ : % 30,504,000 7T) RARIEF N2
Company of HK$67,871,000 (2022: HK$30,504,000) B E17I0#E T HAKE501,324,000 (2022 % : 501,276,000)

and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of — EiBA% o HBARMEFHEMFTE S ENT ¢
501,324,000 (2022: 501,276,000) shares in issue during the
year. The weighted average number of ordinary shares is
calculated as follows:
2023 2022
’000 ‘000
T TFh%
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January M1 A1 EE#ITZEBR 501,324 501,200
Effect of share options exercised TTE R 2 22 (M 5E 23(a)(i)
(note 23(a)(ii)) - 76
Weighted average number of ordinary 712 A 31 B 2 Z @A h1#E F 15 IS
shares at 31 December 501,324 501,276
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted earnings per share

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the calculation
of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit for
the year attributable to shareholders of the Company
of HK$30,504,000 and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 501,290,000 shares (diluted). The
weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) is
calculated as follows:

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

2. BREFN @
(b) BRESER

HE2022F 12 A1 BILFE  ;TESREBERTZ UK
N ) A% B A5 AN 4E S R B 30,504,000 7T N ik S 25 A%
(501,290,000 (%) LiBAL - LA INKEFIOARE (8 )
SHEEMT

2022
000
T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 12 A 31 Bz Sk T a ke
December 501,276
Effect of deemed issue of shares under the Company’s  IRIEAA Al A AE T SIA T RBRIEZITRND
share option scheme for nil consideration (note 22) T2 (HE22) 14
Weighted average number of W12 A 31 Bz Bl MR (#54)
ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December 501,290

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no diluted earnings
per share is presented as the Company had no potential
ordinary shares outstanding as the share option scheme
was expired and no share options were outstanding as of 31
December 2023.

HZ2023F 12 A1 HILFE - AR QA RIEHEETEE
B BB AN RBL AR WEHE2023412 A31 H
RERBITHIREEE - AR G EEIRIRE -

FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB REN)

13. PROPERTY,PLANTAND EQUIPMENTAND 13. Y% - BERRERFEHAEEE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Buildings Furniture,
held for fixtures and
Construction ownuse  Plantand  equipment Motor Right-of -use Total
inprogress  %BEM  machinery L vehicles  Sub-total assets METEE
FEIR  ZBEYM  BERME  KERRG A& Nt ERERE At
HK$00O  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$(000
Cost A
At 1 January 2022 R02E1A1A 1,585 189,990 240992 17523 13,684 621,486 21681 643,167
Exchange adjustments REAR (118) (13,04 (14,752) (15,675) (625) 44,214 (1,327) (45,541)
Addtions 2 14,934 - - 4580 588 20,102 = 20,102
Transfers g (15,186) - 4,465 10,721 - - - -
Disposals HE /B - - (2,481) (2,312) (442 (5.239) = (5,239)
At 31 December 2022 #2002 128318 1215 176,946 208224 172,549 13,205 592,139 20,354 612,493
At 1 January 2023 Ro02351A18 1215 176,946 208224 172,549 13,205 592,139 20354 612493
Bxchange adjustments AR ) (2572 (2.291) (2,358) (99) (7,387) (262) (7.649)
Addtions 2 21,555 - 7,700 8,348 2,902 40,505 - 40,505
Transfers g% (14.437) - 6,466 7971 = 5 5 =
Disposals HE /& - (074 (116257) (138,714 603 (264,077) - (264077)
At 31 December 2023 R023F12A318 8,262 173,300 123842 47,79 7980 361,180 20,09 381,272
Accumulated depreciation ZifihE
At 1 January 2022 R0RE1A1A = 167,779 183,286 103077 11,31 465,503 13,172 478675
Exchange adjustments HARE - (11,384 (10,177) (10,126) (547) (32,234 (867) (33,101)
Cherge for the year REEHE - 2,110 6,258 22,053 861 31,082 497 31579
Disposals HE /& - - (2,239 (2,079) (398) (4.710) 5 {4710)
At 31 December 2022 #2002F 124318 = 158,505 177,134 112925 1,077 450,641 12,802 472443
At 1 January 2023 Ro023E1A18 = 158,505 177,134 112925 1,077 450,641 12,802 472483
Exchange adjustments AR - (2,265) (1,425) (1,430) (75) (5,195) (178) (5,373
Charge for the year KEERE - 1462 6,360 17,647 646 2,115 478 26,593
Disposals e/ - (966) (105508  (124839) 7147 (238458) - (28459)
At 31 December 2023 12023124318 = 16,736 76,563 4,308 4501 242,103 13,102 255,205
Net carrying value REFE
At 31 December 2023 R023F12A318 8,262 16,564 47,079 43,493 3479 119077 6,99 126,067
At 31 December 2022 12002512318 1,215 18,441 51,000 50624 2128 132,498 7552 140,050
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Right-of-use assets represent leasehold land under medium-
term leases. The Group owns several industrial and office
buildings where its manufacturing facilities and office
premises are primarily located. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including the underlying
leasehold lands. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are presented separately only if the
payments made can be allocated reliably.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

13. Y% BERRXERERAEEE @

ERAEEERTHEETHNEED - AEEHALET
EMPARE - HEERERRDGHEBLRNZHAIKN
B ARERzEYFEED (BRARBEE L) Mm%
BA - BEMXNRIBRAAIEDERR  ELEAME
MWHEETHMES T EBES -

The analysis of carrying value of properties is as follows: YIEBREFESTOT ¢
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
Medium-term leases FHIEE
—in Hong Kong - BB 2,409 2,723
— outside Hong Kong - BB 21,145 23,270
23,554 25,993
Representing: #HPK -
Buildings held for own use FEBAREED 16,564 18,441
Right-of-use assets REEE 6,990 7,552
23,554 25,993
FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SENKBRERMNEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB REN)

4. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 14. R&GZEMBRRARNFAESH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial 4R & BAFSAR K 2 BNERFR1S % ¢
position represents:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BET T BT T
Provision for the year (note 8(a)) REZE R (FIFE8@)
- Hong Kong Profits Tax - BAMEH 1,803 3,821
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax - PR EMER 8,494 1,356
10,297 5177
Provisional tax paid FENFR S H
- Hong Kong Profits Tax - BBEH (3,773) (3,576)
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax - PR EMEH (6,655) (520)
(10,428) (4,096)
(131) 1,081
Balance of income tax relating to prior 3B FEATSRHBEE %
years (678) (235)
(809) 846
Represented by: EX
Current tax assets BIEATRIE & B 2,058 -
Current tax liabilities BNEATRIE B & (1,249) (846)
809 (846)
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABEREN)
I5. DEFERRED TAX I5. EFEBIIE
Analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: BERIBEEERBESTHOT -
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Deferred tax assets RETHTEEE 3,028 2,865
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE (157) (159)
2,871 2,706

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

EEERGEMBRARTFERRBZELEHELEE, (A
f8) AR K EEB 2 FHENT

Depreciation

allowances
in excess of
the related Other
depreciation temporary
SBEEX differences Total
REBITE HittmEom=® a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT IT BT IT BT T
Deferred tax arising from: JEZEME 2 ELEH :
At 1 January 2022 M2022%F1 H1H (147) 2,984 2,837
Exchange adjustments HmEs s w2 S (a77) (a77)
(Charged)/credited to profit  (¥1k) FH AZEE2E (3£ 8(a))
or loss (note 8(a)): (10) 56 46
At 31 December 2022 20224912 A31 H (157) 2,863 2,706
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1 A1 H (157) 2,863 2,706
Exchange adjustments HpggyHrge S (37) (37)
Credited to profit or loss FFATEEE (FiEEs()
(note 8(a)): 2 200 202
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H (155) 3,026 2,871
FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB REN)

6. INVENTORIES l6. #TFE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
Raw materials FE 48,973 92,309
Work in progress E5K 21,503 19,692
Finished goods EERK 73,997 86,490
144,473 198,491

During the year, certain aged inventories were sold, and as a
result, a reversal of write-down of inventories of HK$335,000
(2022: HK$978,000) has been recognised and included in
cost of sales.

RER ETREGEEEYL  AEEREREDLER
335,0007T (20224 : # ¥ 978,0007T) E R 5T AFE A
HEFEMA

7. TRADEAND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. EZREMEWRERRK
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BET T
Trade receivables B S EIRER K 223,215 159,402
Other receivables H b EULER TR 18,891 11,029
Deposits and prepayments SN 5,903 7,924
248,009 178,355

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2023




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(@)  Ageing analysis

The ageing analysis of trade receivables as of the end of the
reporting period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

17. BESRKEMEWERT @)

@) FRERDT

RERRE ZRBRFILEZ AR 2 REONAT

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T ST I

Within 1 month 1{EAR 66,298 41,281

More than 1 month but less than 3 BB EARLR3EA

months 118,850 93,280
More than 3 months but less than 12 @3 EAE LR 12@A

months 38,067 24,841

223,215 159,402

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit term generally ranged from 30 to 120
days. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
in note 26(a).

(b)  Trade receivables that are not impaired
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

AEFREFNBIBRTEUEELAER - ZEHAYE
AB0E120K « AEE 2 EEBURFFHNHIFE26()

(b) REREZESZEWVERM

RARN R ERENE HRUERR 2 R DML T -

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired RABETORE 188,083 142,448

Within 1 month past due BERDR 1 E A 32,390 15,259

More than 1 month but less than 3 wHAEB 1 @ AE LR 3EA

months past due 2,570 978
More than 3 months but less than 12 #EAFERB 3 EAELH 1218 A

months past due 172 717

Amounts past due but not impaired ~ #EHi& R ERE 35,132 16,954

223,215 159,402

MEBEARAT —T - —F4%5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB REN)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(c)  Currency analysis

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

17. BESRKEMEWERT @)

() E¥oHH

REEE 5 RUARROBREEEA T IIEREE :

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
HK$ BT 49 =
United States Dollars (“‘US$”) E7T 183,602 106,295
British Pounds (“GBP”) R 12,577 728
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR 26,987 52,379
Total =X 223,215 159,402

18. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 18. SRITRIBRELEER
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BET T

Time deposits with original maturity 318 B A2 HR) E HiTE %

within 3 months 244,251 305,687
Cash at bank and in hand WRTERMIRES 123,164 28,692
367,415 334,379

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$4,694,000
(2022: HK$55,994,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(B AHEN)

19. TRADEAND OTHER PAYABLES 19. EFRHEMEBEMIRK
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables (note a) 2 SR (Fizta) 148,343 162,873
Accrued charges and other payables — JE{H & 3 & E b fE{S BR TR 67,415 43,361
Contract liabilities (note b) a#aE Fisob) 6 684
215,764 206,918

The above balances are expected to be settled within one

VA_EFRIRFERR A AT o

year.
Notes: MI5E -
(@  The ageing analysis of trade payables as of the end  (a) RBEERE HEMNEFIZERZA A RROITH
of the reporting period, based on invoice date, isas I :
follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 1 month 1{EAR 51,103 36,645
More than 1 month @iE 1 E AR 3EA
but less than 3 months 81,172 104,259
More than 3 months HBE3EAELR12M@A
but less than 12 months 15,377 20,421
Over 12 months HBiE121E A 691 1,548
148,343 162,873
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are ~ ANEEZ ZEMNEFAEREEEN T EEHE -
denominated in the following currencies:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HP§$‘OO_O
BT T BT T
HK$ BIT 6,127 11,496
us$ ETT 26,196 44,998
Euro (“EUR”) BT - 546
RMB AREE 116,020 105,833
Total a5t 148,343 162,873
FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

19. TRADEAND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b) Contract liabilities represented the billing in advance
of sales of goods from customer.

9. EZREMEMNSIRR @)

i

b AHABEREPHEERITELGK -

Movements in contract liabilities: ABENEE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Balance at 1 January W1 A1 BES 684 =
Decrease in contract liabilities as a FRERBRATMRIEREE
result of recognising revenue during
the year (684) -
Increase in contract liabilities as a AR M SRR EHA RAaEEM
result of billing in advance of sales of
goods 6 684
Balance at 31 December »®12 A 31 B4 6 684

There is no amount of billing in advance of performance
received that is expected to be recognised as income after
more than one year. (2022: HK$NIil)

20. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLANS

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
plans which are available for eligible employees in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Group has joined defined contribution retirement schemes
for the employees arranged by local government labour and
security authorities (the “PRC Retirement Schemes”). The
Group makes contributions to the PRC Retirement Schemes
at the applicable rates based on the amounts stipulated
by the local government organisations. Upon retirement,
the local government labour and security authorities are
responsible for the payment of the retirement benefits to the
retired employees.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLANS (Continued)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong)
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong
Kong) (the “Ordinance”). The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and the
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
the Group had no forfeited contributions under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme and which may
be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions
available at 31 December 2022 and 2023 under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme which may be used
by the Group to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

21.  BANKING FACILITIES

At 31 December 2023, the Group had unsecured revolving
banking facilities of HK$13,349,000 (2022: HK$13,334,000).
The banking facilities include documentary letters of credit,
trust receipt, bill payables, trade loans, trade guarantee and
corporate credit card. The amount utilised by the Group at
31 December 2023 under these facilities was approximately
HK$6,000 (2022: HK$NIl).

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

20. REMFCEAREE @)

AEERBCRBIEATREE IR (FREDIF4855)
RECEBREBEDD (BBEOIFES7E) ([#RH]]) RDEERN
REZZENRELE —HRHMELAESHI (BB
B ZuEeHImBYERESEE - RERES
2 AEENEERHASAREREBH ©5% REES
SR Fre LRAE A% 30,0007T °

HZE20220F K 2023F 12 31 HILFE - AEBWERSP
BURRGT 8 Rog B SR 8IMm B R Wa sk - AEE A {FE A
5 LR UARR R IR B UK o 722022 F % 2023 F 12 A
318 AEERETBARNRDARFEERMNEROPER
KRETBI MR TE S RTENR UK -

21. BITEEHEE

M20283F 12 A31H  AEBRIRTES EAEAKBEER
S 4 57 13,349,000 7T (2022 4F : 7% # 13,334,000
TL) c RITZEEREURARNER - Sl BHE
B BHERKEZER - NEBMN2023F12 431 HIE
LRI TEERE L AHE 6,000 7T (2022 4F « ) o

FMREBEERAR —T_—FF37
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme which was
adopted on 6 June 2003 for the purpose to give eligible
participants incentives or rewards for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group (Refer to the Report of
the Directors in the Annual Report for the details of the share
option scheme).

(a) Details of the movements of the Company’s
outstanding share options, which have no specific
vesting conditions, held by directors, employees and
other eligible participants during the year ended 31
December 2022 are as follows:

22. URGAEBNZGTRS
DESEENERESE

RN REE— AR 200346 5 6 BRI BB - 1t
T8I E IR SR s SR AE L BB S A AE I AR R B (R
HRizAER2HE (BEEHE  S2RFRTESERS
FREEARIERTE) ©

(@) HE20022F12A31HILFE 5 BEEREM
AER2EERENARTEERERBIEGNE
ITEBRENEBFENT

Number of share options
EREHE
Total share
options
granted
atinitial date
and existed at
31 December
2022
RIKAH Outstanding Outstanding at
BiER at1 January 31 December
R2022F 2022 Exercised Lapsed 2022
Exercise 128318 20228 during the during the R2022F
Type of participates Date of grant Exercisable period price BER 1818 year year 127318
SMEEH RHAH i @RS aiRE ESiNd RERTE REEIH ESitid
HKS
Bl
Directors 20 July 2012 20 July 2012 069 17,900,000 1,200,000 - (1,200,000 -
e 012%7F208 to 19 July 2022
N12FTRNEE
X2%7R198
Employees 20 July 2012 20 July 2012 069 24,380,000 250,000 (125,000 (125,000 -
&8 20127208 019 July 2022
A1267A208Z
0257R19A
42,280,000 1,450,000 (125,000 (1,325,000 -

All share option scheme was expired and no share options
were outstanding as of 31 December 2023.
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22.  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of
share options are as follows:

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

22. URGAEBNIGTRS @)
DESEENERER S (8

(b) BEREZEERIMEFHITEENT

2022

Weighted

average
exercise Number of
price share options
T A
1TEE 8=
HK$ ‘000
s T
Outstanding at the beginning of the year &R TTIE 0.6900 1,450,000
Exercised during the year REEITHE 0.6900 (125,000)
Lapsed during the year AEFEFH - (1,325,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year RERIERITE = =
Exercisable at the end of the year KEFIEAITE S =

No options outstanding at 31 December 2022 and 2023.

P2022F 12 A 31 B M 2023 F 88 RITIHEBIRRE -

During the year ended 31 December 2022, share options
of 125,000 were exercised and resulted in 125,000 ordinary
shares being issued with proceeds of approximately
HK$86,000. The related weighted average price at the time
of exercise was HK$1.01.

1,325,000 share options with unit value of HK$0.0929
lapsed by reason of expiration of the share option scheme.
The total value of the share options lapsed of approximately,
HK$122,000 was transferred to retained earnings during
2022.

HE2022F 12 31 BIEFE © B1718 125,000 B HE -
B EE1T125,000 & L BAL o FT1SFRIB 478 186,000 7T °
TTER R AR DM I ERR BB 1.01 7T ©

R BEREST2IZH - 1,325,000 IREEIRED K H BAI(E
BB 0.0029 7T » B R B R R E LB 122,000 7T
R2022 FNE B =R FHF) -

FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

23.  SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

23. EBEX - RERKRE

(@) Share capital @ B’AX
(i) Issued share capital (i) ERITRA
2023 2022
Amount Amount
Number of &% Number of £ %8
shares HK$’000 shares HK$'000
RAERE BT T feiEE = BT
Ordinary shares, issued EHER  CRTREE:
and fully paid:
At 1 January ®1A1H 501,324,860 467,676 501,199,860 467,578
Shares issued under share & %772 BN (5
option scheme - - 125,000 98
At 31 December »12 A31H 501,324,860 467,676 501,324,860 467,676

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

(i) Shares issued under share option scheme
During the year ended 31 December 2022, options were

exercised to subscribe for 125,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at a total cash consideration of HK$86,000.
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TR EABRTRHWRMEIRNOEE - A HERARE
e LRER-—FERERR - MAETAREANSERIE
BEHHEARFHAL -

(i) BRERTZRED

B ZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE - B17F B 125,000 8%
NEIEBER - AREARBRS86,0007T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(B REN)
23. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 23. ¥%& - BERKRE @
DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(b) Dividends b) KL
(i) Dividends payable to shareholders of the 0 AEERARSERARRRELNS
Company attributable to the year
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interim dividend declared and BB Rk 2 H Hf
paid of 3 HK cents per & B AR E AR 31U
ordinary share (2022: 2 HK cents (20224 : GRREL BB 210)
per ordinary share) 15,040 10,026
Final dividend proposed after RS BRI R 2 R
the end of the reporting period of & B AR E RAREE 410
4 HK cents per ordinary share (2022 % : BRRL BB 410)
(2022: 4 HK cents
per ordinary share) 20,053 20,053
Special dividend proposed RREBREEREMIRE
after the end of the reporting period ~ FREARFFRIRL B AR E B EE 610
of 6 HK cents per ordinary share (2022 : GREBIRBEZ(L)
(2022: nil HK cents per
ordinary share) 30,079 -
65,172 30,079
The final and special dividends proposed after the end of the ~ RAIREREERE MIKEE 2 KK B REFRIR BN A
reporting period have not been recognised as liabilities at the REFFARABEERBAE -

end of the reporting period.

FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

23. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b) Dividends (Continued)
(i) Dividends payable to shareholders of the

Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

23. EBEX -  REERRE @

b) RE @

(i) RBAFERNRERFZATRREERESRFE
ERAER <

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Final dividend in respect of the BEFERBREAAFECHAER

previous financial year, approved S ARSI BAREE 44U

and paid during the year, of (20224 : GRREL BB 410)

4 HK cents per ordinary share

(2022: 4 HK cents per ordinary share) 20,053 20,053

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 4(c).

(ii) Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees of the Group and other eligible persons
recognised in the accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments.

RAYMOND Industrial Ltd. Annual Report 2023

() MREZMHEREW
() ERREE

X RE BRI ABLBINER 2B MRS ASMNE L
Z8 o RBEREBEFNGARRMZT4C) EIE -

(i) EBEXHE

BA G R B H B R A RTR T2 AR
BRAMAERALZ ARRMEI AT ERREREND
FERR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(c)  Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iii)  PRC statutory reserve

Pursuant to the laws and regulations governing the PRC
enterprises, certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, which
are wholly foreign-owned enterprises, are required to allocate
at least 10% of their after-tax profit but before dividend
distribution to general reserve until the reserve has reached
50% of their registered capital. The general reserve can only
be used, upon approval by the relevant authority, to offset
accumulated losses or increase capital. Appropriation to
general reserve during the year amounted to approximately
HK$2,723,000 (2022: HK$1,892,000).

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to shareholders of the Company
was HK$70,476,000 (2022: HK$33,510,000). After the
end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a final
dividend of 4 HK cents (2022: 4 HK cents) and a special
dividend of 6 HK cents (2022: nil HK cents) per ordinary
share totaling HK$50,132,000 (2022: HK$20,053,000).
These dividends have not been recognised as liabilities at
the end of the reporting period.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

23. BX - RERKRE(A)

() REZIMHEERBR @
(i) HEUEERE

KBRPREZEEMETHOEZER - AEBZAENE
ARRIBINEBERE  BIE&RD10% D 2 RERFHEE
TEHEE BEEuRBEIMEANS0% AL - TRHEE
AUEEHERIERARKHEREEBIIENER - AF
ENELMEE SN RSB 2,723,0007T (2022 F :
751,892,000 7T) °

(d) FAIDEHE

MR2023F 12 A1 HRFH AN TARRIRE 2 REESTE
5 78 70,476,000 7T (2022 4F : % #33,510,0007T ) ° R
MEBKRE  EZ2FTRSR LT BRARHREBE 41
(2022 % : M 4L) R ERRE R BINR BEEE 61U (2022
Fo|) . A 5B 550,132,000 7T (2022 4F : 20,053,000
T0) c RIREHIRELREARERARE -

FMREBEERAR —T_—FF37
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

23. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgements
to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines net debt
as total debt (which includes trade and other payables) plus
unaccrued proposed dividends. Adjusted capital comprises
all components of equity less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
strategy, which was unchanged from 2022, was to maintain
the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at reasonable level.
In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.
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23. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued)

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 31 December 2023

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

23. BAX - EERKRE (&

(e) EXEE@M

R 2023 F K 2022 F 12 A 31 H 2 % & (F & AR AR H,

and 2022 was as follows: FlanT
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current liabilities: mEBIE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAE IR 215,758 206,234
Add: Proposed dividends n: BEERERE 50,132 20,053
Net debt BEFE 265,890 226,287
Total equity | 7F“¥ 673,541 645,866
Less: Proposed dividends B BEIRERRE (50,132) (20,053)
Adjusted capital RABRE R 623,409 625,813
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio FEBEFAZRRAKNEHI 43% 36%

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for
the Group to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it
has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Company receives a report from the share registrars on
substantial share interests showing the non-public float and
it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit
throughout the year. As at 31 December 2023, 62% (2022:
63%) of the shares were in public hands.

ME—HESNERAE NN E R EHKE E@EKEIEE???&FM%%
£ EARRE VAT DED| 25% M7

AEIZWRBIREBREFMENFTE - AR S RIEAFAET
AR MDER - WARBZ AR EFNEET25%H
R o 7 2023F 12 A31 H » AREH62% (20224 : 63%)
BIRRD o

FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB REN)

24. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2023 not
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as
follows:

24. TRiE

720234 12 A 31 HR A MM &R A R BH RN B4
T

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BB
Contracted for: B4
- Purchase of equipment and moulds - BEEREHNME A 669 1,912

25. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(@) The Group as lessee

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
warehouses and carpark. As at 31 December 2023, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed in note 9.

(b) The Group as lessor

Operating leases relate to property, plant and equipment
owned by the Group. The lessee does not have an option to
purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

25. REHELH
(@) AEBEAEEA
AEBTHEITREMMEEISGMEEEL - R2023F 12 A

1R EHHEESENEITHENEREEERNE
IR EAS ML

(b) AREE[/EHEA

REMERATEREENYE - BERKEER - AHEA
BERCHENERSBEEZYE

HEMNREBKEENTELT

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within year 1 —FR - 1,197
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit ~ N&RFIRAFAIBRAIELEE ¢
or loss:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Lease income on operating leases KERENHEERA 2,003 1,770
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk and concentration risk, liquidity risk, interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Credit risk and concentration risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
and cash balances and trade receivables. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount
of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Substantially all the Group’s bank and cash balances are
deposited in financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The credit risk is limited as the majority of counterparties
are financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit rating agencies or stated-controlled
financial institutions with good reputations.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. The default
risks of the industry and country in which customers operate
also have an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 33% (2022: 40%); and 89%
(2022: 95%) of the trade receivables was due from the
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

In respect of trade receivables, management has a credit
policy in place and the exposure to the credit risk is
monitored on an ongoing basis. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are due
within 30 to 120 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

26, HEERERE

AEERESEHEAERSEVBRR  EERR - SHE
% BERBERR  FMERRERMIMNERR - AEBHE
BRBREEAZZRNSBTIGO A FRAE - K H
AEBMBRENBETNZERER/

@) EERRBREHRERE

AEENEERR
Ko ZAEERK
BEEREE

2 EEXRARTMASHRBNE H R
o2 EX2IINGAMBHRRD SEM

AEETERENASFERE —RERRNEEREZE
BRTESHEE E2RPUEZ2EERREEREEAX
y%(f’i%%ﬁmﬁélﬁ’%h LI ORBEIDEERF U
W I B ZRIZ ] 2 RAFE B TSR

AEBAEASNEERRIEZIBNRFPFMEAABREY
’Eﬂo%}Ei«“*ﬁﬁftﬁ%fulw’ki’m R EEERRE

CERER) - RREHER  AEEMNEER MKEP
Eﬁ%%@w%ﬁ4w&%%?%$m$m%%@wﬁﬁ
95%) D RIPRBZARFMAEZARF -

RESHERUERME - Eﬁlﬁ‘ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ;‘% BE - g
BEMAIEASHEERR - HREERBBEETEES
%EZ%)E'i’J/\iETTTIE‘HZEnJHE WEFHEEEHHER
AEEIHR 2 B R RIREMERE N UEBERFN
BARERERBRFMEMNCERENER - ESERKIRRA
BHIREE A0 120 HAEE - REB —RTEM
ZRRWEIRER -

FMREBEERAR —T_—FF37
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Credit risk and concentration risk (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The directors of the Company have considered the credit
risk of trade receivables and note that there was no actual
loss nor significant past due experience over the past
10 years, including periods of unfavourable economic
conditions. The directors consider the aggregate risks arising
from the possibility of credit loss on trade receivables are not
significant and no allowance for credit losses was made as
at 31 December 2023.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivable are set
outin note 17.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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26. BIERER @)

@ FERREBRESRERE®E

AEFBNEREEFEANBREEFENSRIEERS
EUBRANBRER - AR AKRENELEEBRERT
AEATNAEFEFPEHMNBARAGFEREEE  UILERS
HRENBIER T E—PROAKENTRAEFE -

AAREZCEREZRUERNEERR  RIEBET
FRBIVETREIENENBH R BIEENFEER
NEE - BEERE EHBRRERAEHREEEEME
FTREERT TEA - BR2023F 12 A31 B EEHRE
BEEaRE -

ERAEBERESREESMELNEERRIE-FE
(L WBEEHNMFE7 -

(b) ESREBMERER

AEEETZENEBEREREZERSERASE B
REPRSBHIREMIEMEFNENRSF R - XEER
ZBRB/EMERRE RIARZRBEFT R - AEREHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities which are based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group and the Company can be required to

pay:

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

26. BIERER @)

(b) EE&RBHERMEE S

TRIMAEEZETEMLEHBERRERRZHRTE
IR - EEERAN LARBMRZRER (BRER
BHOEZHNE  MEFBHNEHERRERR  7FEZ
ME) RAREZERRER BHETE ¢

2023 2022

Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
undiscounted 6 months undiscounted 6 months
cash flow oron cash flow oron
Camying  AHAHN demand Camying  B3HREH demand
amount WREME  6EARI amount  HIRAEEER  6EANK
REE ZRER  EXERR FEE LB BXERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETT BT BETT BT
Trade and other payables B AR AERER 215,758 215,758 215,758 206,234 206,234 206,234
FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
and cash balances which were contracted at short-term
variable rates and expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in (i) below.

26. BIERER @)

() FIRER

AEEFRARIBRERE KBS EEBEBZNTES
FEHRERSIBASEERSREFERER - REH 2 F
ERRREEEEELEI ()T

(i) Interest rate risk (i) F) 2= [ Bsx
2023 2022

Effective Effective

interest interest

rate rate
BERFIE HK$’000 EREFE HK$’000
% BT T % BT IT
Fixed rate bank deposits ~ $R77 5 HifE 7k & & F = 3.85% 244,251 1.08% 305,687
Variable rate bank deposits 81T F 7 F0F & 4.82% 119,934 0.75% 20,485

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s profit after tax and retained earnings
by approximately HK$1,001,000 (2022: HK$171,000)
respectively. Other components of equity would not be
affected (2022: HK$NIl) by changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments
in existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase
or decrease represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual reporting date. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2022.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk
(i) Foreign currency transactions

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and expense transactions that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily US$ and GBP.

(i) Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of trade receivables and payables held in
currencies other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate, the Group ensures that the
net exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to
address short-term imbalances.

(iii) The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

26. BIERER @)

(d)y MR
(i) MERS

AEBEBHRNUAZFREEHNEEBUIN 2 ERIIE
ZWARZ I MAREINER - B RIERR 2 B%E

(i) CECRIALEREE

ERNERZYREEREUNIIZEBRHRBE2EMEZRENR
ENFIE  AEEeEs2RMEHNH T FER - ARE
EXBEAREHINE  BRFZESHEFE BRI
BE e

(i) TRIRAEERHEARETEN LR ER AT E
BRI —BERIIENEEXBEMBERYNE
R

2023 2022

US$’000 GBP’000 US$’000 GBP’000

FEx F&E FEx T

Trade and other receivables & 5 K E fth FE UK BR 7K 23,890 1,270 13,810 78

Bank and cash balances ~ H&NIREEEIER 45,992 10 34,408 277

Trade and other payables & 5 & EAbfEBRFX (5,662) - (5,806) =
Net exposure arising from — FRTER 2 EER B BN

recognised assets and B
liabilities 64,220 1,280 42,412 355
FMREBEEERAR —T_—FFW
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
(iv)  Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s profit after tax and retained earnings in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of
the reporting period.

26, HEEMRERERAFE@E

(d)y NP (8)
(ivy SBEIN

TREEBASENBRERRIEMAREARBRZER S
IR E B HBRRRER RRERMNER ZROED -

2023 2022
Effect Effect
Increase/ on profit Increase/ on profit
(decrease) in  after tax and (decrease) in after tax and
foreign retained foreign retained
exchange earnings exchange earnings
rate HEBRHZ rate HRFE
fE =i~ A AR ER [ &g,/ A R AR
GRA) BRIz E O BTz 52
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
GBP S 5% 529 5% 139
(5%) (529) (5%) (139)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit after tax and retained earnings measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated into HK$ at
the exchange rate ruling as at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates occurred at the end
of the reporting period and applied to each of the Group
entities” exposure to currency risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. In
this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
the HK$ and the US$ would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the US$ against
other currencies. The percentage of increase and decrease
in foreign exchange rate represents the management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the period until the next annual
reporting date. The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2022.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

26. BIEERERERAFE@E

(Continued)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 (¢) HZE2023F 12831 BNERMTAER
December
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT IT
Financial assets: EEEE
Financial assets measured SRR AGTENEREE
at amortised cost 596,721 498,092
Financial liabilities: S@as:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LA A EN S RIARE 215,758 206,234

()  Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair value as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

() Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group

represents amounts paid to the Company’s executive
directors as disclosed in note 10.

 AVE
A BT A2 ARS AR 20035 20224 12 A 31
A2 AFEFEATR -

27. BABIA2EARZREER

@ FEEEEBAEM:

SEFXrZEEEBAEMEEREINAATBMITEETNH T
104 % °

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

Short-term employee benefits pSEL=EEwl 11,729 11,623
Post-employment benefits BEAREF 702 702
12,431 12,325

FREBEEERAR —T-_—F4F%H
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me M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(Continued)

(b) Other related party transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
entered into an agreement with RJW Technology Company
Limited (“RJW Technology”) in acquiring two (2022: two)
units of machinery at a consideration of HK$1,900,000
(2022: HK$1,900,000), which were delivered to the Group’s
premises.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
sold air purifiers at an aggregated consideration of HK$6,000
to RJW Technology.

RJW Technology is majority controlled by the executive

director and chairman of the Board, Dr. WONG, Man Hin
Raymond.

(c) Balances dealt with related parties

Balances with subsidiaries are disclosed in the Company’s
statement of financial position contained in note 30(a).

28. EVENTSAFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed
a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in note 23(b).
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Company Limited ([RJW Technology |) 513 #p% @+ LAE S
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(2022 : 28 )28 - ERNEIREENWE -
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29. SUBSIDIARIES’ INFORMATION

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated.

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB®REMN)

29. MIBATESFR
VEREEEE BERABIMBRAASBENOT - B
EERIBIE - FTiSE 2 IRIE AL @A -

Particulars of Proportion of
issued and paid ownership interest held
Place of Place of up capital by the Company Principal
Name of company incorporation operation BRTR N activities
NEER b e B BRRAE R BYER TEER
Mass Top Corporation The British Hong Kong 1 share of US$1 100% Property holding
Virgin Islands &7 1REBREBR1%T REME
EEERS
Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% Manufacture and sale
Appliances Development Company H H 1S$22,380,000 of electrical home
Limited (Note) HHER appliances
MR (EBEY) ERER 22,380,000 %7t RERBEZRES
ARAA (fia)
Note: BfaE -

The statutory financial statements of Raymond (Panyu Nansha)
Electrical Appliances Development Company Limited for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023, prepared under generally
accepted accounting principles applicable in the PRC, have been

audited by BME S HAIEEFERAR].

Raymond (Panyu Nansha) Electrical Appliances Development
Company Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise registered
under PRC Law.

MR (EEED) ERBEERARAHE2028F12A31HIEZF
EVERREFRETENRE  BEABEMNESSTMERIE
PRA FIEIZ °

FIR(EBEY) &
0

BRERARAFERETEAREMOIEEE

FMREBEERAR —T_—FF37
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position

30. ARQTEBER

@) HBRRE

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T T T

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MERE 2,166 1,031
Investments in subsidiaries B ARKRE 173,703 173,703
175,869 174,734

Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 1,782 9,177
Trade and other receivables 2 5 M E A EUAR K 199,590 110,513
Loan to a subsidiary KB AR &K - 31,192
Current tax assets BIMH IS E 2,021 -
Bank and cash balances IRITRIB TR 263,824 278,372
467,217 429,254
Current liabilities RBAE

Trade and other payables H 5 R HEAMEIRR 56,229 63,981
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASTBT /B 2 RIBR 3K 48,218 38,284
Dividends payable RN AR 339 351
Current tax liabilities BNHATR I B & - 38
104,786 102,654
Net current assets REBEEZE 362,431 326,600
Total assets less current liabilities BEERADER 538,300 501,334

Non-current liabilities ERBEEB
Deferred tax liabilities RIETIEEE 148 148
NET ASSETS EEFE 538,152 501,186

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRR#E
Share capital EEEIN 467,676 467,676
Reserves ®E 70,476 33,510
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 538,152 501,186

Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2024 and

are signed on its behalf by:

WONG, Man Hin Raymond
BEXHE

Director

EF
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mEMBRERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB REN)
30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 30. ZAAQATRBMEER @)
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Details of changes in the Company’s (b) TFREFIRQFEHEDEKRBOEFEN
individual components of reserve during the BEIFE
year:
Share Capital Retained Total
capital reserve earnings equity
TN EXxfifE REEHN Bt
(note 23(a)) (note 23(c(i)
(RzE23(g)) (P 23(c)fi)
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz BETT BETT BETTT BETT
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1 B1 A&t 467,578 134 43,037 510,749
Proftt and total comprehensive income  REEFI R 2 E N EE
for the year - - 20,430 20,430
Dividends approved in respect of the: /RS
- current year -Kf 23(0)(i) - - (10,026) (10,026)
— previous year 3 23(b)(i) - - (20,053) (20,059)
Shares issued under share option BRECET RG
scheme
- gross proceeds - & 23(a)i) 86 - - 86
~ transfer from capital reserve - RERREER 12 (12) - -
Share options lapsed BiERHEE - (122) 122 =
98 (134) (9,527) (9,563)
At 31 December 2022 R2022% 12 A 31 & 467,676 - 33,510 501,186
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 1 ALt 467,676 - 33,510 501,186
Changes in equity for 2023: 0B FREEET :
Profit and total comprehensive income A& F| R 2 E M2
for the year - - 72,059 72,059
Dividends approved in respect of the: ~ BLERE
— current year -AF 23(0)) - - (15,040) (15,040)
—previous year N 23(b)(i) - - (20,053) (20,053)
; - 36,966 3,966
At 31 December 2023 202312 A 31 BEH 467,676 - 70,476 538,152

FREZFRAT —T_—FEH 139
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GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(UB®REN)

3I. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL
for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information.
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3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis or reducing balance
basis over the estimated useful lives. The Group reviews
annually the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any. The depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted
if there are significant changes from the previous estimation.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

In considering the impairment loss that may be required for
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and investments in subsidiaries, the recoverable amount of
the asset needs to be determined. The recoverable amount
is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and the
value in use. It is difficult to estimate precisely the fair value
price because quoted market prices for the assets may not
be readily available. In determining the value in use, expected
cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement relating
to items such as level of revenue and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation
of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
items such as revenue and operating costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(c) Impairment of trade receivables

The Group considers the ECLs of trade receivables are
based on management’s estimate of the lifetime ECL which
is taking into account the credit loss experience, ageing of
overdue trade receivables, customers’ repayment history
and customers’ financial position and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic conditions,
all of which involve a significant degree of management
judgement.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast general economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in notes 17 and 26(a). If the financial
condition of the customers or the forecast economic
conditions were to deteriorate, actual loss allowance would
be higher than estimated.

(d) Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions and
interpretation of tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates
the tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are
set up accordingly. The tax treatment of transactions is
reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in
tax legislation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e) Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete
inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts
of inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses,
projections of expected future saleability of goods and
management experience and judgement. Based on these
reviews, write-down of inventories will be made when the
carrying amounts of inventories fall below their estimated net
realisable value. Due to changes in customers’ performance,
actual sale of goods may be different from estimates
and profit or loss could be affected by differences from
estimates.
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Five Years Financial Summary

IEHERE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR #mEHEHR
LOSS
Year ended 31 December
HIE12A31BILLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT IT T T BT T BRI BT T
Revenue WA 1,155,578 1,289,515 1,433,612 1,063,058 | 1,362,732
Profit before taxation B A& 41,910 76,879 47272 34,336 78,498
Income tax expense PG Hi sz i (2,937) (13,661) (5,312) (3,832) (10,627)
Profit for the year KARIREEEARFEE
attributable to shareholders & 7
of the Company 38,973 63,218 41,960 30,504 67,871
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION e MR E
As at 31 December
12831 AEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BT T BT T BT T
Property, plant and 1 E YN
equipment 169,692 153,021 155,983 132,498 119,077
Right-of-use assets FREEE 8,973 8,833 8,509 7,552 6,990
Deferred tax assets EEMIRE = 3,424 2,739 3,000 2,865 3,028
Net current assets RENBEFE 424,038 490,789 503,501 503,110 544,603
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE (173) (167) (163) (159) (157)
Net assets BEFE 605,954 655,215 670,830 645,866 673,541
Share capital &7 462,333 462,333 467,578 467,676 467,676
Reserves A 143,621 192,882 203,252 178,190 205,865
Total equity AR 605,954 655,215 670,830 645,866 673,541
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